Climate Vulnerability Assessment for Selected Value Chain commodities in Zambia



This study was made possible with financing from the Zambia Ministry of Agriculture (MoA), through the Enhanced Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme (E-SAPP), and funding from the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD).

The Alliance of Bioversity International and the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT) delivers research-based solutions that address the global crises of malnutrition, climate change, biodiversity loss, and environmental degradation. The Alliance focuses on the nexus of agriculture, nutrition and environment. We work with local, national, and multinational partners across Africa, Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean, and with the public and private sectors and civil society. With novel partnerships, the Alliance generates evidence and mainstreams innovations to transform food systems and landscapes so that they sustain the planet, drive prosperity, and nourish people. The Alliance is part of CGIAR, the world's largest agricultural research and innovation partnership for a food-secure future dedicated to reducing poverty, enhancing food and nutrition security, and improving natural resources.

Citation

Mwongera, C., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Mutua, J, Mora, B., Mesa, J., Nguru, W., Kinyua, I., and C. Odhiambo 2020. Climate Vulnerability Assessment for Selected Value Chain commodities in Zambia. Alliance of Bioversity International and CIAT. Rome, Italy.

Contact: Caroline Mwongera | Scientist, Farming Systems and Climate Change | c.mwongera@cgiar.org

Design and Layout: Sherry Adisa | Independent Consultant | adisamsherry@gmail.com

Unless otherwise stated, all photographs in this publication are credited to the Alliance of Bioversity International and CIAT.





Climate Vulnerability Assessment for Selected Value Chain commodities in Zambia

Contract Number: 0179-2018

April 2020

Team Members: Caroline Mwongera, Julian Ramirez-Villegas, John Mutua, Brayan Mora, Jeison Mesa, Wilson Nguru, Ivy Kinyua, and Collins Odhiambo

Alliance





Table of Contents

List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of abbreviations and acronyms	х
Glossary	xii
Acknowledgements	xiv
A. Overview	4
B. Goals and objectives of E-SAPP	5
Chapter 1: Agricultural context	7
1.1 Geographic Location	7
1.2 Demographics	7
1.3 Agro-economic situation	8
1.4 Selected commodity value chains	8
A. Legume commodity group (beans, groundnuts, cowpeas, soybeans)	8
a) Common Beans (<i>Phaseolus vulgaris</i>)	8
b) Soybean (<i>Glycine max</i>)	9
c) Cowpea (<i>Vigna unguiculata</i>) d) Groupdput (<i>Arachis hypogaea</i>)	10
B. Rice (<i>Orvza Sativa L</i> .)	10
C. Small livestock commodity group (poultry, goats, sheep and pigs)	12
a) Poultry	12
b) Pig Production	13
c) Sheep Production	14
d) Goat Production	15 16
A Legumes commodity group	16
B. Rice	18
C. Small livestock	19
Conclusions for Chapter 1	21
Chapter 2: Climate hazard analysis	23
2.1 Introduction	23
A. Climate Indices	24
i) Temperature	24
ii) Precipitation	24
B. Climate hazards	25
i) Drought Stress ii) Flooding	20 26
iii) Moisture Stress	27
iv) Season Onset	28
v) Length of Growing Period	29
vi) Heat Stress	30
Conclusions for Chapter 2	31

Chapter 3: Vulnerability analysis for selected crop and livestock		
value chains in Zambia	33	
3.1 Introduction	33	
3.2 Sensitivity of value chains to climate change	35	
3.3 Exposure to natural hazards	37	
3.4 Adaptive capacity across the Zambian territory	38	
3.5 Vulnerability of the Zambian agricultural sector to climate change	39	
Conclusions for Chapter 3	41	
Chapter 4: Modelling the implication of current and future climate		
on pests and diseases	43	
4.1 Introduction	43	
4.2 Suitability of pests and diseases in Group 1	46	
4.3 Current climate suitability of pests and diseases in Group 2	47	
Conclusions for Chapter 4	49	
Chapter 5: Vulnerability to climate change for selected value chains		
charge for beletica value charge for beletica value charge		
across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum	51	
across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction	51 51	
across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum	51 51 52	
across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains	51 51 52 52	
across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries	51 51 52 52 60	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 	51 52 52 60 60	
across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change	51 52 52 60 60 62	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 62	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP) 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 63	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP) C. Zambia strengthening climate resilience project (PPCR Phase II) 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 62 63 63	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP) C. Zambia strengthening climate resilience project (PPCR Phase II) D. Zambia National Strategy to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (Redd+) 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 63 63 63	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP) C. Zambia strengthening climate resilience project (PPCR Phase II) D. Zambia National Strategy to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (Redd+) 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 62 63 63 63 63	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP) C. Zambia strengthening climate resilience project (PPCR Phase II) D. Zambia National Strategy to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (Redd+) 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 63 63 63 63 63 63	
 across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum 5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains 5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries 5.5 Promising adaptation options 5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change A. National policy on climate change (NPCC) B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP) C. Zambia strengthening climate resilience project (PPCR Phase II) D. Zambia National Strategy to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (Redd+) Conclusions for Chapter 5 	51 52 52 60 60 62 62 62 63 63 63 63 63 63 72	

List of Tables

Table 1:	Key natural hazards for Zambia	37
Table 2:	Adaptive capacity variables used in the vulnerability assessment for Zambia	38
Table 3:	Average vulnerability index per agroecological zone for crops and livestock	40
Table 4:	Common pests and diseases for the selected value chains, and their optimum temperature, rainfall and relative humidity conditions	43
Table 5:	Environmental parameters used in the modelling of suitability for important pests and diseases affecting the selected value chains	45

List of Figures

Figure 1: I	llustration of the key concepts of climate risk. Source, IPCC 2014, p. 1046	4
Figure 2: E (Estimated production, yield and area harvested for soybean in Zambia. Source: FAOSTAT, 2019a)	9
Figure 3: E	Estimated production, yield and area harvested for cowpea in Zambia. Source: Central Statistical Office, 2018.	10
Figure 4: E	Estimated production, yield and area harvested for groundnut in Zambia. Source: Central Statistical Office, 2018	11
Figure 5: E	Estimated production, yield and area harvested for rice in Zambia. Source: Central Statistical Office, 2018	12
Figure 6: A	Approximated number of chicken, goats, pigs and sheep in Zambia rom 2013 to 2017. Source: FAOSTAT, 2019c	13
Figure 7: C	Chicken production, importation and consumption in Zambia. Based on constructed lata from the Poultry Association of Zambia (PAZ) and Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA): Adapted from Caesar et al., 2019	13
Figure 8: E	Estimated pig, poultry and sheep production trends in Zambia from 2017 to 2026. Source: OECD, 2019	14
Figure 9: I (Density of small livestock per agricultural land unit in Zambia: Source: FAOSTAT, 2019c) 15	
Figure 10:	Characterization of the activities and the actors involved in the legume commodity group	17
Figure 11:	Characterization of the activities and the actors involved in the rice value chain	18
Figure 12:	Characterization of the activities and the actors involved in the small livestock commodity group	20
Figure 13:	Observed temperature trends in Zambia (1982 - 2015)	24
Figure 14:	Observed precipitation trends in Zambia (1981 - 2018)	24
Figure 15:	Maximum number of consecutive dry days (CDD) in Zambia for the period 1981-2018 derived from observed climatic data. Right panel is the maximum number of CDD for the wet season only.	25
Figure 16:	Extreme precipitation events; (1982-2015). On the left is the 95th per centile (a) and on the right is the maximum 5-day running average derived from gridded average precipitation values (b)	26
Figure 17:	Observed moisture stress determined as the maximum number of consecutive days with the ratio of Et to Ep below 0.5	28
Figure 19:	Length of the growing period in Zambia, 1982-2015 determined as the total number of growing days growing days	29
Figure 20:	On the left is observed growing degree-days (GDD) in Zambia 1982-2015. On the right, number of observed hot days with temperature capped at 35° C and above	30
Figure 21:	Agroecological zones of Zambia (left), areas cropped (centre), and areas with pastures (right). Data for the left panel were taken from FAO/IIASA (2002), and for the centre and right panels from Ramankutty et al. (2008)	34
Figure 22:	Sensitivity of the ten value chains analysed to climate change under RCP 4.5 for 2030	36
Figure 23:	Projected changes in suitable land area for RCP 4.5 (left) and RCP 8.5 (right) by 2030, for the five crop-based value chains analysed	36
Figure 24:	Spatial distribution of natural hazards across Zambia	37
Figure 25:	Spatial distribution of adaptive capacity indicators for Zambia. A value of zero indicates no adaptive capacity, and a value of 1 indicates absolute adaptive capacity	39
Figure 26:	Overall vulnerability of Zambian agriculture to climate change by 2030 for RCP 4.5 (left) and RCP 8.5 (right). Supplementary Figure S4 shows results for the 2050s	40
Figure 27:	Contribution of different agricultural value chains to overall climate change vulnerability by 2030 for RCP 4.5 Supplementary Figures S6–S8 show results for RCP 4.5 by 2050s and for RCP 8.5 by 2030s and 2050s	41

Figure 28:	Current climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia (1981-2015), on a scale of low to high	46
Figure 29:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high	46
Figure 30:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high	46
Figure 31:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high	47
Figure 32:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high	47
Figure 33:	Current climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia (1981-2015), on a scale of low to high	47
Figure 34:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high	48
Figure 35:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high	48
Figure 36:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high	48
Figure 37:	Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high	48
Figure 38:	Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum	52
Figure 39:	Climate hazards selected as the most problematic for the three commodity groups, with scores of 1 to 9 representing the most to lowest significance, respectively	53
Figure 40:	Effects of drought spells and moisture stress on the legume commodity group	55
Figure 41:	Effects of drought spells and floods on the rice value chain	57
Figure 42:	Effects of drought spells and moisture stress on the small livestock commodity group	59
Figure 43:	Ongoing and potential adaptation to drought spells and moisture stress in the legume commodity group	60
Figure 44:	Ongoing and potential adaptation to drought spells and floods in the Zambian rice value chain	61
Figure 45:	Ongoing and potential adaptation to drought spells and moisture stress in the small livestock commodity group	62
Figure S 1	: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analysed here to climate change by the 2050s for scenario RCP 4.5	73
Figure S 2	: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analysed here to climate change by the 2030s for scenario RCP 8.5	74
Figure S 3	: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analyzed here to climate change by 2050s for scenario RCP 8.5	75
Figure S 4	: Overall vulnerability of Zambian agriculture to climate change by 2050 for RCP 4.5 (top) and RCP 8.5 (bottom)	76
Figure S 5	5: Vulnerability of Zambian crop and livestock systems to climate change	77
Figure S 6	: Contribution of individual Zambian agricultural value chains to overall vulnerability to climate change by 2050 for RCP 4.5	78
Figure S 7	: Contribution of individual Zambian agricultural value chains to overall vulnerability to climate change by 2030 for RCP 8.5	79
Figure S 8	: Contribution of individual Zambian agricultural value chains to overall vulnerability to climate change by 2050 for RCP 8.5	80

List of abbreviations and acronyms

AER	Agroecological Area
AR5	Fifth Assessment Report
CCAFS	Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security Program (CGIAR)
CDD	Consecutive Dry Days
CGIAR	Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research
CHIRPS	Climate Hazards Group Infrared Precipitation with Station data
CIAT	International Center for Tropical Agriculture
CNRM	Centre National de Recherches Météorologiques (France)
CSA	Climate-Smart Agriculture
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (Australia)
CSO	Central Statistical Office
GDDs	Growing degree-days
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GHGs	Greenhouse gas emissions
GoZ	Government of Zambia
E-SAPP	Enhanced Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme
E-SLIP	Enhanced Smallholder Livestock Improvement Programme
IFAD	International Fund for Agricultural Development
LGP	Length of growing period
LSU	Livestock units
MoA	Ministry of Agriculture
MSME	Micro-, Small and Medium Enterprise
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
NDC	Nationally Determined Contribution
NDP	National Development Plan
7NDP	Seventh National Development Plan (2017-2021)
PCO	Programme Coordination Office
PME	Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway (greenhouse gas emission modelling scenarios)
ТНІ	Temperature-humidity index
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change





Glossary

Adaptation

In human systems, the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects, in order to moderate harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. In natural systems, the process of adjustment to actual climate and its effects; human intervention may facilitate adjustment to expected climate (IPCC).

Adaptive capacity

The ability of a system to adjust to changes in climate, to moderate potential damages, to take advantage of opportunities or to cope with the consequences (IPCC, 2014)

Climate scenario

A plausible and often simplified representation of the future climate, based on an internally consistent set of climatological relationships and assumptions of radiative forcing, typically constructed for explicit use as input to climate change impact models. A 'climate change scenario' is the difference between a climate scenario and the current climate (IPCC, 2007)

Climate projection

The simulated response of the climate system to a scenario of future emission or concentration of greenhouse gases (GHGs) and aerosols, generally derived using climate models. Climate projections are distinguished from climate predictions by their dependence on the emission/concentration/radiative forcing scenario used, which is in turn based on assumptions concerning, for example, future socio-economic and technological developments that may or may not be realized (IPCC, 2014)

Climate variability

The variations in the mean state and other statistics (such as standard deviations, the occurrence of extremes, etc.) of the climate and all spatial and temporal scales beyond that of individual weather events. Variability may be due to natural internal processes within the climate system (internal variability), or to variations in natural or anthropogenic external forcing (external variability) (IPCC, 2014)

Exposure

Relating to the economic, social, or cultural assets in places and settings that could be adversely affected. Typical exposure factors include temperature, precipitation, evapotranspiration and climatic water balance, as well as extreme events such as heavy rain and meteorological drought. Changes in these parameters can exert major additional stress on systems (e.g. heavy rain events, increase in temperature, or shifts in the period of peak rain) (GIZ). The presence of people, livelihoods, environmental services and resources, infrastructure, or economic, social, or cultural assets in, places that could be adversely affected (IPCC, 2012).

Hazard

Any climate-related physical event or trend or its physical impacts that may cause loss of life, injury or other health impacts, property damage, loss of livelihoods and services, social and economic disruption and environmental



damage (IPCC, 2014). In this report the term hazard will be related to climate-related physical events or trends.

Indicator

A sign, or estimate of the state of something and often of the future state of something. Most importantly, indicators are used to identify vulnerable people, communities and regions. In addition, to elucidate information on the nature of vulnerability and to better identify adaptation options. Moreover, they are used to measuring and tracking the process of implementing adaptive actions. Indicators are used in monitoring and evaluation systems but are hard to use in measuring outcomes (Adapted from IPCC; WGII AR5 Chapter 14 – Adaptation Needs and Options).

Nationally Determined Contribution

An embodiment of efforts by each country to reduce national emissions and adapt to the impacts of climate change. NDCs are at the heart of the Paris Agreement and the achievement of these long-term goals.

Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs)

Scenarios that include time series of emissions and concentrations of the full suite of greenhouse gases (GHGs) and aerosols and chemically active gases, as well as land use/ land cover (Moss et al., 2008). The word representative signifies that each RCP provides only one of many possible scenarios that would lead to the specific radiative forcing characteristics. The term pathway emphasises that not only the long-term concentration levels are of interest, but also the trajectory taken over time to reach that outcome (Moss et al., 2010).

Risk

The potential for adverse consequences where something of value is at stake and where the outcome is uncertain, recognizing the diversity of values. Risk is often represented as probability or likelihood of occurrence of hazardous events or trends multiplied by the impacts if these events or trends occur. In this report, the term risk is often used to refer to the potential, when the outcome is uncertain, for adverse consequences on lives, livelihoods, health, ecosystems and species, economic, social and cultural assets, services (including environmental services) and infrastructure (IPCC, 2014)

Risk assessment

A methodology to determine the nature and extent of risk by analysing potential hazards and evaluating existing conditions of vulnerability that together could potentially harm exposed people, property, services, livelihoods and the environment on which they depend (IPCC, 2014)

Sensitivity

The degree to which a system is susceptible to, and unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes (IPCC, 2014).

Vulnerability

The degree to which a system is susceptible to, and unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes.

Acknowledgements

This research has been conducted by the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT) under an agreement with the Ministry of Agriculture (MoA) with financing from the Government of the Republic of Zambia (GRZ), the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD).

The authors extend their sincere thanks to the Enhanced Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme (E-SAPP) Programme Coordination Office (PCO) and the Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation (PME) Unit for their tremendous support, participation and guidance throughout this study. We would like to take this opportunity to thank you for the effort and expertise that you have contributed to reviewing the work and to achieving high standards in the study. We thank Olga Spellman and Vincent Johnson (the Alliance of Bioversity International and CIAT) for their editing and proofreading of this report.



Executive summary



Zambia has a projected population of about 18,137,369 with annual growth of 3 per cent in 2019. It has one of the youngest populations worldwide (median age of 17.2 years) with 50.5 per cent females and more than a half - 58.3 per cent - living in rural areas. There are high rates of stunting and underweight among children (40 per cent and 14.8 per cent, respectively). Zambia's real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is projected to decrease by 2 per cent in 2019 due to increased deficits, poor agricultural returns and reduced capital inflows. Agriculture is an important sector in Zambia, contributing an average of 8.2 per cent to the national GDP over the period 2011-2015, and constitutes the main source of livelihoods for an estimated 1.5 million households, representing 60 per cent of all households in Zambia. The agricultural sector is likely to become more vulnerable because of climate change.

Climate-related vulnerabilities are threatening agroecosystem resilience because of a strong reliance on rainfed agriculture, with only 0.65 per cent of agricultural land currently under irrigation. Climate trends from 1960 to 2003 indicate that mean annual temperature has increased by 1.3°C. Moreover, it is projected that the average temperature will increase by between 1.9°C and 2.3°C between 2050 and 2100. The mean rainfall has decreased by an average of 1.9 mm/ month (2.3 per cent) per decade since 1960, or a cumulative annual decrease of 22.8 mm in rainfall. The likely scenario of precipitation is a reduction of about 10 to 20 per cent in the Zambezi and Limpopo basins, and an increase in the number of consecutive dry days (CDD). It is therefore important to investigate climate change impacts and vulnerabilities on agricultural value chains and ways of integrating adaptation into development and sectoral planning.

The Government of Zambia (GoZ) is already integrating climate change in its policies and plans. Under the National Policy on Climate Change, the government is envisioning a sustainable climatechange response under which all climate-change actions will need to be environmentally sustainable and contribute positively to national economic growth and social development objectives. Under the Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP), adaptation and mitigation strategies to minimize effects of climate change on the agriculture sector are targeted, including promotion of adoption of agricultural and climatesmart and organic techniques. The Zambia Strengthening Climate Resilience Project (PPCR Phase II) aims at strengthening the institutional frameworks for climate resilience while improving adaptive capacity of vulnerable communities in targeted areas. Relevant projects to fast track these outcomes include the Enhanced Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme (E-SAPP) that aims at benefiting smallholder farmers by increasing their incomes, food and nutrition security particularly of rural households that participate in market-oriented agriculture. In addition, the Enhanced Smallholder Livestock Investment Programme (E-SLIP) aims at sustainably improving incomes of rural poor households in selected provinces and districts in Zambia. The S3P Programme aims at improving the income levels and food and nutrition security of those poor rural households in the target areas that depend on agriculture and/or agricultural related activities.

The vulnerability assessment methodology used to prepare this report is drawn from the conceptual framework of climate-related risk from the Fifth Assessment Report (AR5) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Working Group II (WGII) to examine the impacts that climate change is likely to have on agriculture and food security. The IPCC defines vulnerability as "the extent to which a natural or social system is susceptible to sustaining damage from climate change impacts, and is a function of exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity". The impact of climate change on agriculture and livelihoods therefore can be conceptualized as the aggregation of these components. The approach we use in this study is a combination of the following steps:

- Review of historic climate hazards and risks prevailing in the three agroecological zones in Zambia.
- Evaluate climate indices that are potentially relevant for agriculture and other sectors in Zambia.

- Compute historical changes in climate indices using observed historical (1981-2015) weather data.
- Downscale and bias-correct future climate projections from the latest set of IPCC projections, which comprises an ensemble of 20-30 different Global Climate Models (GCMs).
- Distil the initial list of climate indices and categorize them in relation to factors or processes (e.g. heat stress, drought stress).
- Describe the projected changes (exposure) in key climate stressors and their potential impact on three commodity groups (Legumes, Small-livestock and Rice).
- Assess the vulnerability across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum (Category A - Strategic linkages of graduating subsistence farmers to markets, Category B - Enhancing Agro-Micro-, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSME) and Category C - Facilitating Pro-Smallholder Market-Pull Agribusiness Partnerships.
- Identify potential adaptation actions for climatic risks and vulnerabilities in the three commodity groups across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum.

The vulnerability of selected value-chain commodities in the three Agroecological Regions (AERs) of Zambia was assessed based on their sensitivity to change, coping and adaptive capacities. Engagements with in-country contacts and partners was a core component of the project execution and country-specific climate vulnerability assessments. This ensured that local knowledge and perceptions regarding climate change risks and impacts were incorporated into the climate vulnerability assessment and that the recommendations for building climate resilience were developed and verified with key stakeholders *in situ*.

For Zambia, the most significant meteorological indicators affecting agriculture are linked to the changes in temperature and precipitation. Within the last 33-year period (1982 to 2015), temperatures show an average increase of $\sim 0.7^{\circ}$ C for the summer (wet season), with a higher rate in the increase for winter (dry season) temperatures at $\sim 2.3^{\circ}$ C. Warmer temperatures are expected to bring about a devastating effect on the agricultural production exposing crops to heat stress. Annual precipitation for the period between 1981 and 2018 shows a decrease during the dry season and an increase during the wet season. From the general trend an increase of ~ 100 mm, from

900 mm to 1000 mm has been observed during the wet season. The dry season rainfall however shows a continued decline with the total annual precipitation being maintained at ~25 to ~30 mm.. Drought is the most significant climatic hazard for all the selected value chains. Further, moisture stress is the second most significant hazard for legumes and small livestock.

Negative impacts of climate change occur in the north and north-west of the country, towards the semi-humid areas, and hence these areas show the greatest sensitivity across crops. The extent of suitable areas for crops is projected to decrease, with rice and cowpea being the most negatively impacted crops. Similar results are seen for livestock, although with generally less sensitivity as compared to crops. The frequency of heat stress days for livestock increases in the warm semi-arid and warm sub-humid zone. Pig and cattle are the species that experience the greatest increase in severe heat stress days, and hence the greatest sensitivity. We also note that areas with high vulnerability also correlate to high poverty rates, stunting, and limited access to water.

Results also highlight a decrease in the length of the growing period (LGP), which is the average number of growing days, in the wet season. The decrease in LGP not only affects the cropping system, but also livestock by reducing forage availability. More so, the number of observed hot days with temperature greater or equal to 35° C shows a slight increase during the wet season and a substantial increase (up to 15 days) in the dry season. This shows that winters are actually becoming warmer due to climate change. These changes in the growing period and heat stress mean that farmers will need to grow varieties that are drought-tolerant, heat-tolerant and adapted to shorter and warmer growing periods, and more erratic rainfall. Overall, agricultural vulnerability is greatest towards the western, southwestern and northern districts. Crops are most vulnerable towards the west and north-west of the country. In the coming decades, unless adaptive capacity is enhanced, and adaptation strategies are implemented throughout the country, climate change will exacerbate vulnerability even further.

Warm average temperatures and humid conditions favour the prevalence of pests and diseases in the northern and eastern regions of Zambia. Four RCPs are produced from the Integrated Assessment Models, selected from the published literature and used in the Fifth IPCC Assessment as a basis for the climate predictions and projections. RCPs are scenarios that include time series of emissions and concentrations of the full suite of greenhouse gases (GHGs) and aerosols and chemically active gases, as well as land use/land cover (Moss et al., 2008). RCP 4.5 partial implementation of Paris Agreement) is an intermediate emission pathway in which radiative forcing is stabilised at approximately 4.5 W m-2 and peak around 2040, then decline. RCP 8.5 (business as usual) is a high emission scenario for which radiative forcing reaches greater than 8.5 W m-2 and continues to rise throughout the 21st century.

Looking at the currently common pests and diseases among the selected value chains, we find that climatic conditions are favouring the larger distribution of the African rice gall midge, legume pod borer and bean flower thrips. For the 2030s, i.e. the period between 2021 and 2040, both RCP 4.5 and 8.5 scenarios indicate an overall increase in the distribution and infestation of pests and diseases in Zambia as warming conditions increase suitability in the west. For 2050s i.e., 2041 to 2060, the results predict a reduction in distribution and infestations of pests and diseases compared to the 2030s. Under RCP 4.5, prevalence reduces because of the underlying technologies adapted to reduce emissions, whereas for RCP 8.5 climatic conditions become unfavourable for the pests and diseases. Adoption of management practices aimed at lowering greenhouse gas emissions and carbon capture, such as use of clean energy, forestry, agroforestry, and bio-pesticides will be beneficial as a long-term response in mitigating climate change, thereby creating unfavourable environmental conditions that inhibit the development and distribution of the pests and diseases.

Inadequate climate-smart knowledge and skills, which is exacerbated by inadequate extension services and limited political will are the main factors that are likely to hinder the effective implementation of climate adaptation actions. In addition, community values, attitudes, beliefs and practices, contribute to inequalities, social exclusion and discrimination based on gender, age or social status. For instance, even though women dominate in the contribution of production activities of small livestock, men are assumed to take control over resources, marketing and the decision-making roles in this commodity group. We recommend efforts to scale off-farm services such as index-based insurance, early warning systems, disease surveillance, credit and financing to enhance climate adaptation. Several areas for work for the Zambian Government and society appear in terms of improving adaptive capacity in the country. Most notably, in the

prevalence of stunting in rural areas likely through sustainable agricultural intensification, agribusiness development and enhanced resilience, improvements in the capacity of education institutions, and an overall reduction in the incidence of poverty across the country.

A. Overview

The Climate Vulnerability assessment study focused on three commodity groups (legumes, small livestock and rice), that are supported by the Enhanced Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme (E-SAPP). The outcome of the assessment will inform climate-change adaptation interventions, under the Enabling Environment for Agribusiness Development Growth component of the programme. Because of the existing synergies between and among the programmes in the portfolio and overlap in the commodities of focus among the IFAD-supported Programmes in the Portfolio, particularly between the Enhanced Smallholder Livestock Improvement Programme, (E-SLIP) and the Smallholder Productivity promotion Programme (S3P), the results of the study could further inform interventions in these other programmes.

The climate vulnerability assessment aimed to understand and quantify vulnerability of the selected value chains in the three agroecological regions of Zambia using an integrative and responsive methodology. We use the conceptual framework of climate-related risk from the Fifth Assessment Report (AR5) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Working Group II (WGII) to examine the impacts that climate change is likely to have on agriculture and food security (Figure 1).

According to the IPCC, climate change risk results from the interaction of vulnerability, exposure, and hazards.

Vulnerability refers to the degree to which a system is susceptible to, and unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes. Vulnerability is a function of the character, magnitude, and rate of climate change and variation to which a system is exposed, its sensitivity or susceptibility to harm, and its adaptive capacity (Parry et al, 2007) (GIZ).

The propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected (IPCC), formulated as follows:

Vulnerability = f (Exposure, Sensitivity, Adaptive Capacity)

Hazard refers to climate-related physical events or trends or their physical impacts that may cause loss of life, injury or other health impacts, property damage, loss of livelihoods and services, social and economic disruption and environmental damage (IPCC, 2014). While, exposure relates to the economic, social or cultural assets in places and settings that could be adversely affected. For instance, people, livelihoods, environmental



Figure 1: Illustration of the key concepts of climate risk. Source, IPCC 2014, p. 1046 services, resources and infrastructure (IPCC, 2012). Typical exposure factors include temperature, precipitation, evapotranspiration, as well as extreme events such as heavy rain and meteorological drought. Changes in these parameters can exert major additional stress on systems (e.g. heavy rain events, increase in temperature or shifts in the period of peak rain).

The adopted methodology by CIAT provides a framework for policymakers, researchers and stakeholders to assess the impacts of climate risk on selected value-chain commodities and target areas, in order to develop potential adaptation actions that support a climate-resilient development pathway. The vulnerability analyses were undertaken for current climatic conditions and under projected climate change for the decades 2030s and 2050s.

B. Goals and objectives of E-SAPP

The Government of the Republic of Zambia (GRZ) and the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) finances the Enhanced Smallholder Agribusiness Promotion Programme. The Lead implementing agency for E-SAPP is the Ministry of Agriculture (MoA). The E-SAPP goal is "to increase the income, food and nutrition security of rural households involved in market-oriented agriculture". The Programme's Development Objective (PDO) and the central strategy of E-SAPP is "to increase the volume and value of agribusiness outputs sold by smallholder producers". The Programme has a multiple commodity focus and a nationwide coverage. The selected commodities define the geographic focus of interventions. This study focused primarily on three commodity groups: Legumes (groundnut, soybean, bean and cowpea); Small livestock (poultry, goats, sheep and pigs); and rice.

The E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum includes: Category A - Strategic linkages of graduating subsistence farmers to markets; Category B - Enhancing Agro-Micro-, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs); and Category C - Facilitating Pro-Smallholder Market-Pull Agribusiness Partnerships. The programme also supports commodities that present agribusiness potential and market opportunities under its sub-component on facilitating Pro-Smallholder Market-Pull Agribusiness Partnerships. The subcomponent supports inclusive investments by large-scale private agribusinesses that increase the profitability and sustainability of smallholder farmers and rural Agro-Micro-, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs).

B.1 Study Objectives

The overall objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Collect and synthesize available biophysical and socio-economic maps and data
- 2. Analyse the occurrence of climate-related hazards in the prospective target area of the project (including a historical analysis of hazard types, intensities, frequencies and associated losses and damages)
- 3. Assess the impact of climate-change effects on the three value-chain commodity groups: legumes, small livestock, and rice
- Determine the susceptibility and vulnerability of the value chains in the target areas to the most prevalent climate hazards (sensitivity analysis)
- Provide recommendations on how to manage the climate risks for these commodity groups and ensure increased resilience of the target beneficiaries groups namely Category A, B and C.



Chapter 1: Agricultural context

Chapter authors: Caroline Mwongera and Collins Odhiambo

<u>Key messages</u>

- An estimated eighty per cent of the population in Zambia is engaged in the local poultry value chain. Pig and goat engage about 21-40 %per cent of the population. Sheep is the least dominant among the small livestock, employing less than 20 per cent of the population.
- The bean and groundnut value chains engage about 21-40 per cent of the population. Women are mainly involved in the provision of seeds and other inputs. Men dominate the roles in input, production, post-harvest and marketing activities for groundnut. Soybean employs an estimated 41-60 per cent of the population. Women play a central role the input, production and marketing stages.
- The rice value chain engages 61-80per cent of the population in Zambia. The private sector is the main provider for mechanized technologies. Women play a major role in the input acquisition and marketing activities. Men dominate the harvesting, processing and storage, and have a high role during production and marketing.



1.1 Geographic Location

Zambia is a landlocked country in Southern Africa. It covers a total area of 752,618 square kilometres. It is located between latitudes 8° and 18° south and longitudes 22° and 34° east. Its neighbours include the Democratic Republic of Congo to the north, Tanzania to the northeast, Malawi to the east, Mozambigue, Zimbabwe, Botswana and Namibia to the south, and Angola to the west. (Central Statistical Office, 2017). Zambia has ten (10) provinces, namely, Central, Copperbelt, Eastern, Luapula, Lusaka, Muchinga, Northern, North Western, Southern and Western. The provinces are administratively subdivided into districts. In all, Zambia has 106 districts, 156 constituencies and over 1,430 wards. Lusaka is the Capital City and seat of the government. The government comprises of the Central and Local Governments.



1.2 Demographics

Zambia's population has been increasing at an annual average rate of 2.8 per cent during the previous intercensal period. The population was estimated at 7,383,097 in 1990, and increased to 9,885,591 in 2000 and to 13,092,666 in 2010. This represented an increase of 33.9 per cent in the 1990-2000 intercensal period. Between 2000 and 2010, the percentage increase was 32.4 per cent. As at 2019, the population is projected at 18,137,369 with annual growth of 3 per cent in 2019 compared to 2.9 per cent in 2018 (The World Bank, 2019c).

With a median age of 17.2 years, Zambia has one of the youngest populations in the world. The female percentage of the total population in Zambia is 50.5 per cent and 49.5 per cent male (The World Bank, 2019d). The gross percentage of school enrolment in 2017 at primary schools was 99 per cent. According to UNESCO (2019), the illiterate population aged 15 years and above was 437,739 males and 828,427 females in 2018. The International Labour Organization (ILO) datasets indicate that 75.2 per cent of Zambians above 15 years of age are participating in labour in different sectors or actively looking for work (ILOSTAT, 2019). However, most of the people (58.3 per cent) live in rural areas compared to 41.7 per cent living in urban areas. The rate of urbanization between 2015 and 2020 was predicted to grow at an annual rate of 4.23 per cent according to the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) (CIA, 2019). This annual growth rate may put a strain on urban resources, especially on food supply.

According to SADC (2019), food insecurity is on the rise compared to previous years. It is estimated that about 19 per cent of the rural population (1.7 million people) need food safety nets. Malnutrition is also expected to increase. In general, Zambia accounts for 1.2 million of people who are acutely food-insecure and affected by climate shocks (Food Security Information Network, 2019).



1.3 Agro-economic situation

Seventy-five (75) per cent of Zambia's poor live in rural areas and practice smallholder agriculture (The World Bank, 2018). The agriculture sector employed more than half (53.9 per cent) of Zambia's active population by 2018 (ILOSTAT, 2019). It is estimated that over 60 per cent of the total population live in the rural areas. Small-scale farmers are the majority; nearly one million farmer households who in total cultivate about 80 per cent of the total land (Nkhoma & Nangambaaharan, 2019). The farm sizes are small, ranging from 1-5 hectares, with an average area of 2 hectares (ibid). The arable land as a share of agricultural land in Zambia was estimated at 15.94 per cent, with cropland being 5.16 per cent (FAOSTAT, 2019a). Irrigation is limited; only 0.65 per cent of agricultural land was under irrigation in 2016. In Zambia, agricultural commodities account for approximately 80 per cent of the value of farm production (Braimoh et al., 2018). In 2018, the growth of the value-added commodities from fisheries, forestry and agriculture declined significantly by up to -21 per cent. This may be associated with inadequate infrastructure and poor enabling policy environments in Zambia that have been cited as hampering dynamic agro-industrial development (FAO, 2017). The decline was also observed on the contribution of these items to the GDP by close to 1.4 per cent from the previous year (2017) (The World Bank, 2019d). This means that agriculture contributed 2.6 per cent to the country's GDP. In development terms, this could be an indication that the country is moving towards manufacturing and away from over-reliance on

agricultural output, but due to the declining valueadded commodities, this may not fully explain such contributions.

In 2018, the Zambian economy was projected to expand by 3.5 per cent compared to 3.4 per cent in 2017 (The World Bank, 2018). However, agriculture output contracted by large margins of more than 35 per cent, a factor associated with shortage of rains in early 2018 (AFDB, 2019). El Niño forecasted for the 2018-19 season affected the outputs negatively (The World Bank, 2019c). On the other hand, agricultural products accounted for up to 27.7 per cent as a share of Zambia's Non-Traditional Exports (NTEs). The export earnings derived from agricultural products showed a 14.8 per cent upward trend, translating into a financial gain from Kwacha (ZMW) 657.2 Million in May 2019 to ZMW 754.3 Million in June 2019 (Central Statistical Office, 2018).

The IPCC report by Hoegh-Guldberg et al., (2018) gives a robust signal on the likely scenario for climate change, with an increase in average temperature by 1.5°C in Zambia. With a 2°C increase in temperature, the likely scenario of precipitation is a reduction of about 10–20 per cent in the Zambezi and Limpopo basins, an increase in the number of consecutive dry days (CDD) and the reduction in stream flows between 5 and 10 per cent. The temperature is projected to increase between 1.9° C and 2.3° C between 2050 and 2100 (Hamududu & Ngoma, 2019). With rainfall decreasing by about 3 per cent by the 2050s, water availability will be severely affected, decreasing by 13 per cent by 2100 across Zambia.

1.4 Selected commodity value chains

A. Legume commodity group (beans, groundnuts, cowpeas, soybeans)

a) Common Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris)

Common bean is the second most important and widely grown food legume crop in Zambia, after groundnut, in terms of its economic importance (GoZ, 2018c). According to Caesar et al. 2019, about 11.2 per cent of households in Zambia, of which 12.0 per cent are rural and 6.0 per cent are urban, grow common beans. The crop is grown in about 32.1per cent of the total area in Zambia under food legume crops; that is, approximately 85,469 ha annually (Hamazakaza et al., 2014). According to the Central Statistical Office's (CSO) 2018 monthly focus, the annual hectarage is on



the rise from the 83,635 Ha to 84,566 Ha in 2016 to 2018, respectively (Central Statistical Office, 2018). Common beans are valued for their importance as a source of protein and micronutrients such as Iron (Fe) and Zinc (Zn).

Beans are increasingly becoming a cash crop, shifting from a traditionally women's crop to a joint enterprise in which both men and women participate (GoZ, 2018c). In Zambia, common bean productivity is very low, ranging between about 400 and 500 kg/ha. However, the potential productivity is estimated at about 1.2 t/ha under good agricultural practices (GoZ, 2018c). The actual yield rate increased between the 2016-2018 cropping period from 0.55 MT/ ha to 0.62 Mt/ha (FAOSTAT, 2019a). Efforts to increase productivity in the 2017/2018 Crop Survey Forecast showed a production increase by 14.0 per cent for mixed beans according to CSO (2018).

Smallholder formal seed purchases are low, estimated at 5 per cent (Tracy & Don, 2018). More than 80 per cent of these smallholders use their own saved seed from the previous crop season or purchase seeds from neighbours. Fertilizer use is low, and basal fertilizer use in the 2017/18 cropping season was estimated at 212 MT in Zambia. However, FAO estimated NPK fertilizer use for all agricultural crops in Zambia in 2017 at 181,662 MT and Urea at 179,433 MT (FAOSTAT, 2019a). The average fertilizer usage per hectare in Zambia for all crops in 2018 was estimated at 82.1 kg compared to 105.9 kg per hectare in 2016/2017, representing a 22.5 per cent decline (Chapoto, Chisanga, & Mulako, 2018).

b) Soybean (Glycine max)

Soybean is grown by about 4.5 per cent of the farmers in Zambia, of which 4.9 per cent are from rural areas and 2.3 per cent from urban areas (Caesar et al., 2019). The Zambia Crop Survey, 2016, estimates the number of small- and medium-scale households growing soybean at around 10047 (Central Statistical Office, 2016). There are few (about 740) large commercial farms along the value chain that focus on soybean production (Alfani et al., 2019).

Soybeans are produced on an area spanning 225,359 Ha (Figure 2) according to FAOSTAT (2019a). The yield rate has been estimated at between 1.47 MT/Ha and 1.52MT/Ha for soybean in 2016-2018 (Central Statistical Office, 2018). Farmers sell 70 per cent of their produce, keeping 30 per cent as seed for the next planting season (Siamabele, 2019). Formal seed purchase is rare, it is estimated that only 20 to 30 per cent of soybean farmers use certified/improved seed (The World Bank, 2012). Price volatility, however, saw a drop in price of grains from 2017 to 2018, where farm gate price was \$150 per ton compared to \$450 from the previous season. Input use, especially inorganic fertilizer, is low and similar to the case for common beans. In 2017/18, 51.3 per cent of Zambian rural households reported using fertilizer.





Figure 2: Estimated production, yield and area harvested for soybean in Zambia. Source: (FAOSTAT, 2019a)

c) Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata)

Cowpea is produced by less than 10 per cent of farmers in Zambia according to World Bank reports (Braimoh et al., 2018), even though some 387,000 tons are consumed in Africa annually. Statistics from Zambia indicate that 38,929 households engaged in cowpea farming in 2016 (Central Statistical Office, 2016). The crop is important as a seed oil, for feed and nitrogen fixation. The seeds are packed with essential amino acids, possessing protein (up to 24 per cent in dry seeds).

The 2018 National Crop Forecast Survey indicated that the area under cowpea in Zambia was approximately 26,438.14 hectares in the 2017/18 cropping season. The average yield of cowpea in Zambia was 1.46 metric tons per hectare in 2017/18 and reduced by 19.6 per cent to 1.46 metric tons



per hectare in 2018/19 cropping season. However, crop surveys indicated that in the same period of 2017/18, the average yield was 0.47 metric tons per hectare (Figure 3) (Central Statistical Office, 2018). In 2018, 23,413 hectares were expected to be harvested, which was a significant improvement on the previous -2016/17 harvest season by 100.28 per cent (ibid). Some of the recent cowpea varieties have a potential yield of 1.4 to 1.5 tons per acre and mature in about 92-94 days (IITA, 2015). African parasitic weeds, especially Striga and Alectra, affect the crop. Drought-tolerant, leaf spot and bacterial disease-resistant varieties are required.

In the 2017/18, cropping season the quantity of basal fertilizer used for cowpea was estimated at 13.20 metric tons, while the quantity of top dressing fertilizer was about 6.71 metric tons.



d) Groundnut (Arachis hypogaea)

Groundnut, also referred to as peanut, is considered a "female crop" in Zambia (USAID, 2018) because women play significant roles in its production and processing. On average, by 2016, there were 709,139 small and medium households engaged in groundnut farming in Zambia (Central Statistical Office, 2016). Groundnut contains 25 per cent protein and up to 50 per cent of the edible oil content. Groundnut is the second largest crop in terms of production in the country, after maize. It accounts for nearly 9 percent of the cultivated land in the country (Chapoto et al., 2018). Groundnut was produced by about half (49.8 per cent) of households in 2018, both smallholder and medium scale farmers (USAID, 2018; Central Statistical Office, 2016). Since it forms part of the diet, about 3.3 per cent of the total food expenditure is used to buy groundnut. On the other hand, when harvested, about 80 per cent of these groundnuts go to household consumption, while 20 per cent are sold to the local markets (USAID, 2014). Yield rates for groundnut in Zambia in 2018 was estimated at 0.64 tons/ha, representing only marginal increase of 2 per cent from the previous 0.63 MT/Ha in 2017 (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Estimated production, yield and area harvested for groundnut in Zambia. Source: Central Statistical Office, 2018

B. Rice (Oryza Sativa L.)

Rice is grown on Zambezi flood plains of Western province, along Kafue River, the Luangwa flood plains in Eastern province, around the lake basins, especially Mweru and Bangweulu in Luapula, and sporadically grown in Chambeshi flats in the Northern Province. In addition, some is grown at Copperbelt in the dambo (shallow wetland) sites and seasonal streams. Approximately, 66,592 small- and medium-scale households were engaged in rice farming in Zambia as at 2016 (Central Statistical Office, 2016). It is estimated that about 31 per cent of these farmers growing rice are women. Area under rice in 2016/17 was 33,303.33 hectares while in the 2017/18 cropping season, it increased to 34,216.59 hectares. The average farm plot sizes under rice have been estimated to average 0.57 hectares per farmer. Rice is an important food crop and per capita consumption increased from 1.49 kg/year in 2002 to 4.11/year kg in 2014 (Mukwalikuli, 2018).

Each farmer in Zambia produces on average less than one metric ton of rice/year (Styger, 2014), a figure that is lower than the global average production of four metric tons per hectare. The average yield was 1.15 tons per hectare in 2016/17 and showed an improvement to 1.3 metric tons per hectare in 2017/18 cropping year (Figure 5). Production also increased from 38.422.90 metric tons in 2016/18 to 43,063.11 metric tons in 2017/18 (Central Statistical Office, 2018; FAOSTAT, 2019a). Often, farmers retain seeds from previous seasons and, in 2016, farmers retained about 72.24 metric tons (Central Statistical Office, 2016). Farmers use of chemical fertilizers with basal fertilizers for rice was 62.52 metric tons in 2016/17 and 150.07 metric tons in 2017/18. Top dressing fertilizers reduced by 84 per cent in 2018 from the previous 140 metric tons.

It is estimated that more than half (52 per cent) of rice is traded through different channels especially local markets. After harvest, most of the rice is taken to processors, whose capacity is low, with most mills having a production rate ranging from 1.5 to 2.5 metric tons per hour (Government of Zambia, 2016). Most of the small-scale processors (90 per cent) are men (Government of Zambia, 2016).



Figure 5: Estimated production, yield and area harvested for rice in Zambia. Source: Central Statistical Office, 2018

C. Small livestock commodity group (poultry, goats, sheep and pigs)

a) Poultry

In Zambia, poultry is an important source of livelihood and currently the main source of meat consumed by Zambians; contributing 50 per cent of the total meat consumption in Zambia. It contributes 5 per cent to the national Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and approximately 47 per cent of the livestock GDP (Bukasa, 2019). From the early 2000s, growth in the poultry industry has been on an upward trend, with average annual growth rates of 8 per cent in Zambia (Samboko, Zulu-Mbata, & Chapoto, 2018). FAOSTAT (2019) estimated the number of live birds, both local and broilers, to be around 40,334,000 birds as indicated in the Figure 6. The figure does not include birds such as turkey, pigeon, duck, goose and guinea fowl. Indigenous chicken are highly valued due to their free foraging. On average, poultry especially chicken, makes up 13.55 per cent of the total livestock units (LSU) in Zambia and in terms of density per agricultural land area, it takes 0.02 LSU/ha (FAOSTAT, 2019c). On average, 97 per cent of farm households in Zambia have at least one chicken in their backyard (Caesar et al., 2019).

Consumption demand for chicken increased over the years and by 2017 stood at 9.2 kg

per capita. By the year 2025, it is predicted that poultry consumption in Zambia will increase by 1.8 kg per person up to 3.1 kg per person compared to 2015 (Ostaszewski, 2018). Ready-to-cook chicken production has been estimated at 50,350 tons in 2019 and is predicted to increase to 55,600 tons by the year 2025 (OECD, 2019). Broiler production is the major subsector, and the biggest driver of the poultry industry. It has about 35,000 smallholder farms and more than180 large commercial broiler farms (Caesar et al., 2019). Smallholders dominate the broiler market (65 per cent), while large commercial producers contribute about 35 per cent.

The layers subsector is also very important in terms of egg production. Between 2017 and 2018, there was a 10 per cent increase in egg production of layers, that is, 37.6 and 41.1 million trays of eggs, respectively. In terms of exports in the same period, 35 per cent of eggs and 9 per cent of broiler chicken were exported to Democratic Republic of Congo. Zambia now has annual output of eggs that exceeds 1 billion, of which at least 10 per cent is exported via informal cross-border trade. Zambians consume 60 eggs per capita per year (McKee, 2019).



Figure 6: Approximated number of chicken, goats, pigs and sheep in Zambia from 2013 to 2017. Source: FAOSTAT, 2019c

The main risk factors in poultry production in Zambia are linked to diseases associated with antibiotics resistance becoming a hindrance to production. Nevertheless, chicken farming has improved recently. Commercial or largescale farmers keep up to 100,000 birds per cycle while small-scale farmers have birds ranging from 1-10,000 per cycle (Caesar et al., 2019). Chicken imports are increasing exponentially to meet local demand (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Chicken production, importation and consumption in Zambia. Based on constructed data from the Poultry Association of Zambia (PAZ) and Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA): Adapted from Caesar et al., 2019

During periods of climatic stress, especially hot dry and hot humid seasons in Zambia, a higher incidence of Newcastle Disease Virus outbreaks have been noted (Saelao et al., 2019). Besides, temperatures above 18–19° C have been associated with higher metabolic rates that affect production of poultry. Poultry production has been projected to decrease by 0.17 per cent under climate change scenarios (CIAT; WorldBank, 2017).

b) Pig Production

The 2018 Livestock and Aquaculture Census placed the total number of pigs at 1,082,765, with Eastern Province leading with 28.3 per cent. According to the Living Conditions Measuring Survey, by 2015, 30.9 per cent of the population was rearing pigs, of which 31.3 per cent were from rural areas, while 32.1 per cent was from the urban areas (Caesar et al., 2019). As at January 2018, 178,848 households were rearing pigs with each household having at least 5.8 heads of pigs (Central Statistical Office, 2019). The number ranged from 19.5 per household in Lusaka Province to 2.5 per household in Northern and Luapula Provinces, respectively. In 2016, the per capita consumption of pork was placed at 1.5 kg/capita in Zambia (Soare & Chiurciu, 2017). Between 2007 and 2017, the annual rates of growth in terms of pork consumption in Zambia has increased by more than 9.7 per cent/annum according to IndexBox organization (FastMoving, 2018). In 2019, pig meat in terms of carcass weight equivalent has been estimated at around 34,980 tons. This is predicted to increase to around 45,190 of pig meat slaughtered in Zambia by 2025 (Figure 8) (OECD, 2019). Pigs' account for 7.83 per cent of the total livestock units in Zambia and 0.01 LSU/ha in terms of density per agricultural land area (Figure 9) (FAOSTAT, 2019c). Under predicted climate change scenarios, pig production is projected to increase by 0.26 per cent (CIAT; World Bank, 2017).



Figure 8: Estimated pig, poultry and sheep production trends in Zambia from 2017 to 2026. Source: OECD, 2019

c) Sheep Production

The 2017 Livestock and Aquaculture Census estimated that the sheep population as at January 2018 was 170,262 heads (148,946 from individual households and 21,539 from established firms). Southern Province was reported to have the highest number of sheep, approximately 62,586 heads; that is 36.8 per cent of the sheep stock nationally. The lowest number of sheep was recorded in the Western Province, which is 0.2 per cent of the total national sheep stock (Central Statistical Office, 2019). According to the FAO datasets, the population of sheep was approximately 257,144 as at 2017, as shown in the Figure 8 (FAOSTAT, 2019c). By January 2018, the Central Statistics Office reported that 19,909 households were raising sheep.

On the other hand, 285 establishments were raising sheep along the value chain (Central Statistical Office, 2019). At household level, the number of sheep was averaged to 7.5 with herds ranging from 1-5 sheep. The number also went up to 12 per household in Lusaka. Established firms had 76 heads on average.

Mutton consumption has been on the rise in Zambia. It is expected to increase by about 0.1 kg/person and reach 0.6 kg/person by the year 2025 according to the OECD-FAO data (Ostaszewski, 2018). In 2019, sheep meat in terms of carcass weight equivalent has been estimated at around 10,900 tons, marking a 27.16 per cent increase in terms of tons of sheep slaughtered in Zambia (OECD, 2019).

d) Goat Production

Zambian animal genetic resources, according to the Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock (MAL), indicate that most of the goats (97 per cent) are indigenous breeds or crosses with exotic breeds (GoZ, 2018b). Zambia's total goat population was estimated at 3,476,790 heads, according to the Livestock and Aquaculture Census (Central Statistical Office, 2019). This census, conducted in 2017, indicated that Southern province accounted for the highest population (1,233,435). This represented 35.5 per cent of the total national stock of goats. Central province had 585,277 representing 16.8 per cent. The lowest numbers were in Western Province, which accounted for 1.9 per cent. On average, the number of heads per household was estimated at 7.4. Most households in the census raised goats - 71,872 households. As at January 2018, these households had a herd size of 1-5 heads of goats, although herd sizes were larger than 30 heads in only 10,000 households. In 2017, the density of goats per agricultural area in Zambia, that is, the average rates of goats per agricultural land area stood as low as 0.01 LSU/ha. Furthermore, the data indicated that goats shared 9.27 per cent of the total livestock units in Zambia (Figure 9) (FAOSTAT, 2019c).



Figure 9: Density of small livestock per agricultural land unit in Zambia: Source: (FAOSTAT, 2019c)

1.5 Value chain Characterization

A. Legumes commodity group

The bean value chain engages about 21-40 per cent of the population. Women are mainly involved in the provision of seeds and other inputs, while men are the main actors in the on-farm production, harvesting, storage and processing stages. Women and youth play a minor role at the product marketing stage of the value chain. Input suppliers are mainly small- and medium-scale service providers. Small-scale farmers dominate the production stage, whereas both small and medium processors dominate the processing stage. Small-scale wholesalers support linking farmers to buyers, pricing and marketing activities (Figure 10).

About 20 per cent of the population is currently engaged in cowpea production. Men tend to drive the value chain at the input, production and marketing stages, with women and youth playing a medium role at the marketing stage. Small-scale and medium scale service providers are the suppliers of seed and other inputs. For the these three stages of production, post-harvest and marketing, small-, medium- and largescale actors are engaged; these are farmers, processors and wholesalers, respectively (Figure 10).

Soybean is an important value chain in the legume commodity group for Zambia and employs an estimated 41-60 per cent of the population. Medium-scale and large-scale service providers are involved in the supply of inputs for this value chain. There are small, medium and large scale actors involved in the soybean production, processing and marketing stages (Figure 10). Women play a central role the input, production and marketing stages of the value chain. Men also play a medium role in production, harvesting, storage and processing. Youth are currently involved in marketing activities, alongside women.

The groundnut value chain currently 21-40 per cent of the population. Men dominate the roles in input, production, post-harvest and marketing activities. Small and mediumscale service providers are the main actors for the provision of seed and other inputs. For the activities at the input and production stages, both women and youth have a low involvement. At the post-harvest and marketing stages, women and youth both play a medium role. Small-scale and medium scale farmers mainly engage in the production activities. In the harvesting, storage, processing and marketing activities, small, medium and large-scale actors are present (Figure 10).

Key activities at the input stage for the legume commodity group are seed sourcing by farmers. In addition, the government provides seed certification, and pesticide supply is by agro-dealers. Land preparation, harvesting, and pest and disease control are the major activities during production. The most important activities at processing are packaging, storage and crop protection by farmers and cooperatives. There is also aggregation and processing which is mainly the role of farmer groups and traders. At the marketing stage, the most important activities include linkage to buyers by extension group leaders and traders, and selling and transportation both supported mainly by traders and farmers (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Characterization of the activities and the actors involved in the legume commodity group

B. Rice

The rice value chain engages 61-80 per cent of the population in Zambia. Major input activities are sourcing of certified seed provided by agricultural dealers and cooperatives. ZARI is the main supplier of the basic seed. Government/private institutions such as world vision, CAMCO and TLC, provide extension services. The private sector is the main provider for mechanized technologies. The key activities during on-farm production are land preparation, planting, weeding and spraying which farmers provide. Women play a major role in the input acquisition and marketing activities in the rice value chain. Men dominate the harvesting, processing and storage, and have a high role during production and marketing. Young people have little engagement in input provision, medium

contribution to the processing, and high involvement in production and marketing.

Small and medium-scale scale farmers mainly engage in the sourcing of seed and other inputs. The production activities are land preparation, planting, weeding and harvesting. In the processing stage, medium-scale processors who are mainly the cooperatives and private sector, perform bulking, transportation, and processing. Key activities in the marketing stage are grading, market linkage, pricing, negotiation and selling by small, medium and large-scale wholesalers. Cooperatives and non-governmental organizations (NGOs), such as CAMCO, provide the marketing services (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Characterization of the activities and the actors involved in the rice value chain

C. Small livestock

An estimated 80 per cent of the population in Zambia is engaged in the local poultry value chain. Small-scale farmers, who are mostly the men, dominate the production stage activities. Most input providers are small-scale (Figure 12). Women are majorly responsible for sourcing of feed and other inputs. The youth also play a medium role in the input and on-farm production stages. Harvesting and processing employs a lower number of people compared to the other stages of the local poultry value chain because of the limited activities. Thereby men and youth both have a low involvement in these activities. There is a very high involvement of men in the marketing, followed by a medium contribution by the youth. Contrary to the significant contribution made by women to sourcing for feed and other inputs, they have a very low involvement in the marketing. The majority of the wholesalers are small-scale, with only a few large-scale processors.

The pig value chain engages about 21-40 per cent of the population. Input suppliers are mainly medium-scale. Medium-scale farmers dominate the production stage, with men having a very high contribution in the activities. There are few large-scale processors, and wholesalers. Women are very actively engaged in the pig value chain, with a very high involvement in input, production and post-harvest stages. The main contribution of men is in the marketing, and they play a medium role in production and input acquisition activities. Young people have a low involvement in the activities at the four stages of the value chain.

An estimated 21-40 per cent of the population in Zambia is engaged in the goat value chain. Medium-scale service providers are involved in the provision of inputs. Women are dominant in the sourcing of feed and other inputs. Small and medium-scale farmers, who are mostly men, are involved in production activities. Similar to poultry and sheep, processing and marketing is carried out by large-scale actors, although few in number. Most input providers are small-scale. Women are majorly responsible for sourcing of feed and other inputs. The youth also play a medium role in the input and on-farm production stages. Both women and youth have a very high involvement in the marketing activities (Figure 12).

The sheep value chain is the least dominant among the small livestock, employing less than 20 per cent of the population. Women play the most dominant role in all the value chain stages, which include: provision of feed and other inputs, on-farm production, harvesting, storage and processing, and product marketing. Processing activities are negligible in this value chain. Medium-scale service providers are involved in the supply of inputs. There are medium- and large-scale farmers involved in the production. The wholesalers are mainly medium-scale.

The key activities at the input stage for the small livestock commodity group are stocking of inputs, transportation and feed formulation. Input suppliers and the private sector are the main providers of these services. At the production stage, main activities are extension services, breeding and disease control that are supplied by the government and some NGOs. Processing, storage and transportation are the major post-harvest activities provided by individual farmers, farmer groups and cooperatives. For small livestock marketing, extension group leaders and traders support retailing, while packaging and transportation involves both farmers and traders (Figure 12).



Figure 12: Characterization of the activities and the actors involved in the small livestock commodity group

Conclusions for Chapter 1

Small scale and medium scale actors dominate the value chain activities. Processing activities are limited and there are few large-scale processors, and wholesalers. Young people have little engagement in input provision, medium contribution to the processing, and high involvement in production and marketing.




Chapter 2: Climate hazard analysis

Chapter authors: Wilson Nguru and Caroline Mwongera

<u>Key messages</u>

- For Zambia, the most significant meteorological indicators affecting agriculture are linked to the changes in temperature and precipitation.
- Long-term observations indicate that Zambia's territory has been warming in the last few decades. Average temperatures within the last period of 33 years (1982 to 2015), show an increase of ~ 0.7° C for the summer (wet season), and a higher rate in the increase for winter (dry season) temperatures at ~ 2.3° C
- Warmer temperatures are expected to bring about a devastating effect on the agricultural production exposing crops to heat stresses.
- The length of the growing period (LGP), which is the determined as the average number of growing days has been decreasing during the wet season.
- Heat stress is increasing in intensity, and will lead to reduced animal and crop production.
- Annual precipitation for the period between 1981 and 2018 shows a decrease during the dry season and an increase during the wet season.

Maximum daily temperatures between 30 °C and 40 °C are common especially in the low-lying valley areas such as the Zambezi, Gwembe and Luangwa valleys. Therefore, these areas enable irrigation of wintermaize. During the dry cool period, frost is common.

b. The wet season (November to April) – This period receives rainfall with December and January/February being the wettest months. Average temperatures during this season are around 21 °C. Rainfall is unimodal and is mainly influenced by the Inter-Tropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ) with variations due to altitude, latitude, temperature, relative humidity and control of air masses (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2005). The ITCZ is essentially a low air-pressure zone or belt that attracts the moist north easterly/ westerly winds, bringing rainfall to the area. This low-pressure zone mostly lies over the Democratic Republic of the Congo and the northern parts of Zambia for a long period during summer, bringing about the rainy season between the months of November and April. Mean annual rainfall is approximately 1 020 mm. it is lowest in the south, at 750 mm, while the central parts of the country experience between 900 and 1 200 mm and the north about 1 400 mm (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2005).

2.1 Introduction

Zambia lies within the tropics but due to its high altitude, enjoys a subtropical climate rather than tropical conditions for most of the year characterized by two seasons (Camerapix, 1996).

Zambia is characterized by two seasons:

a. The cool and hot dry season (May to October) - Rainfall is usually absent while temperatures vary from 16 °C to 21 °C. This season is split into a 'dry cool period' from May to July, called midwinter season, that experiences low average temperatures of up to 16 °C and a 'dry hot period' with average temperatures of 24 °C (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2005). Hazard refers to climate-related physical events or trends or their physical impacts that may cause loss of life, injury or other health impacts, property damage, loss of livelihoods and services, social and economic disruption and environmental damage (IPCC, 2014). In this study, we consider hazards that may affect agriculture activities or cause loss to livelihoods directly linked to agriculture.

A. Climate Indices

Exposure variables are strictly climatic phenomena, such as the magnitude, rate of change or variation in rainfall and temperature or meteorological events such as drought or flooding. We use desk research and stakeholder consultations to identify relevant indicators for the study context.

i) Temperature

Daily temperature data was downloaded from NASA power (<u>https://power.larc.nasa.gov/</u> <u>data-access-viewer/</u>) for 10 weather stations in each province across Zambia and within all the four agro-ecological zones. The data was averaged to produce a whole country average dated from Jan 1982 to December 2015. The output data was the average temperature for the country per year as shown in Figure 13.





Zambia's average annual temperature trend between 1982 and 2015 is highly significant. This gives a period of 33 years of data, which can effectively be used to monitor climate change. The wet season occurs during summer, while the dry season occurs during winter. During the wet season, the average observed annual temperature in 1982 was ~22.3° C, which over the years increased to 23° C in 2015. This is an average increase of ~0.7° C within a period of 33 years, which is attributed to climate change in recent decades with a maximum average annual temperature of 24.1° C in 1998. The observed average temperature trend in the dry season, however, increased drastically from ~19.6° C in 1982 to 21.9° C in 2015, bringing an average increase of ~2.3° C over the years (Figure 13). This observation shows that summer temperatures are increasing, as well as winter temperatures, but at a higher rate because of global warming.

ii) Precipitation

Total annual precipitation per season in Zambia was obtained from Climate Hazards Group Infrared Precipitation with Station data (CHIRPS) for the whole country at a resolution of 0.05° for 1981 to 2018. The data was daily gridded precipitation. The daily precipitation was averaged for the whole country and added for the years from 1981 to 2018.





The total annual precipitation in Zambia for the period between 1981 and 2018 shows both a decrease during the dry season and an increase during the wet season. The wet season rainfall over the years varies from the lowest at ~750 mm in 1981 to the highest event at ~1150 mm in 2017 (Figure 14). From the general trend observed during the wet season, an increase of ~100mm, from 900 mm to 1000 mm has been recorded. However, consultation with stakeholder reveal a contrary perception that the amount of precipitation has been decreasing over the years. This can be explained by the fact that the country is experiencing increased rainfall intensity over a very short period of time (Gannon et al., 2014). This reduction of the frequency of rainy days means that there are longer dry spells interspersed by more intense heavy precipitation events. Therefore, rainfall is recorded showing increased total amounts. The dry season rainfall however shows a continued decline with the total annual precipitation being maintained at ~25 to ~30 mm. These outputs indicate the influence of natural annual variability on precipitation, suggesting that climate change has affected intensity, duration and distribution of rainfall.

B. Climate hazards

Climate change results into various extreme events that constraints crop and animal production. In crop and fodder production, increased moisture and heat stresses are considered the most critical (FAO, 2019). Changes in both temperature and precipitation determine the availability of moisture. Higher or warmer temperatures increase water losses resulting from evapotranspiration (Mortsch, 2005). Growing periods with warmer and longer temperatures result in heightened extremes resulting in acute water stresses and consequently drought. Drought stress accelerates the number of days to maturity leading to shortened crop reproduction stage, pollen sterility, reduction in leaf area and ultimate reduction in crop yields (Barnabás et al., 2008; Alqudah et al., 2011).

i) Drought Stress

In this study, the maximum number of Consecutive Dry Days (CDD) is analysed seasonally and in each year as a proxy for within-season dry spell length. This is a good indicator of drought stress. Seasonal Maximum number of consecutive dry days were taken as days with rainfall less than 1 mm/day.

The frequency of CDD relative to the base period 1981 to 2018 has slightly increased with an average of 15 CDD across the wet season. In the wet season, greater peaks were observed in 1981, 1999 and 2009 (Figure15). The overall maximum number of CDD pattern is in general consistent with the historical drought occurrences in Zambia since 1981 with a major drought occurring in 2005 and the most recent 2017/2018 season having prolonged dry spells (Funder et al., 2018; Reliefweb, 2019; Mulenga et al., 2017).



Figure 15: Maximum number of consecutive dry days (CDD) in Zambia for the period 1981-2018 derived from observed climatic data. Right panel is the maximum number of CDD for the wet season only.

Zambia's agricultural sector is highly dependent on rain-fed production and therefore vulnerable to weather shocks. Few farmers use mechanized irrigation and climate change therefore, has the potential to significantly reduce agricultural production and exacerbate poverty and food insecurity (Mulenga and Wineman, 2014). Drought has been the major threat to food security, with large declines in crop yields occurring consistently in seasons having below than normal rainfall (Muchinda 2001) Drought has been the major threat to food security, with large declines in crop yields occurring consistently in seasons having below than normal rainfall (Muchinda 2001).

Due to its high reliance on rainfed agriculture. Zambia food production is highly vulnerable to intolerably longer and intense dry spells. Increased temperatures together with frequent droughts has led to declining access to food, causing starvation and poverty. For example, the strong drought in 2015/2016, due to a strong El-Niño, weakened the adaptive capacity of smallscale farmers and lowered their resilience towards the following seasons' dry spells (Reliefweb, 2019) pushing people below the poverty line. Frequent droughts together with increased temperatures affects forage quantity and quality, water accessibility and increases heat stress on livestock therefore, leading to reduced livestock production.

ii) Flooding

With climate change in Zambia, small-scale farmers started experiencing unpredictable rainfall, which involved experiencing heavy rains and floods (UNDP, 2010). Over the past two decades, flooding in the wet season has been on the rise leading to, loss of lives and property. The rainfall intensity has increased, resulting in associated consequences of flooding and soil erosion (Funder et al., 2018). Flooding occurrences in Zambia were recorded in the period between 1997 and 1998 as well as 2005 and 2009.

The characterization of extreme precipitation used in this study is determined by the 95th per centile threshold and maximum 5-day moving average applied to daily precipitation values. The analysis is carried out on a dailyyearly basis on the same location, across the two seasons for the observed and predicted precipitation values during all the wet events.

The **95th per centile rainfall** event is the event whose precipitation total is greater than or equal to 95per cent of all storm events over the given period of record. This was carried out for each season for the years involved;

- a. Removing all observed values less than 2.54 mm as they do not cause runoff and could potentially cause the analyses of the 95th per centile storm runoff volume to be inaccurate.
- b. Calculating the 95per cent rainfall event and used it as the 95th per centile storm event for each season. (Environmental Protection Agency, 2009)

A graph of 95th per centile of daily precipitation over the years was plotted as shown in Figure 16(a).

The *maximum 5-day running average* represents the highest 5-day running average precipitation in each season or the highest rainfall average for five consecutive days from the start of season (Figure 16(b).



Figure 16: Extreme precipitation events; (1982-2015). On the left is the 95th per centile (a) and on the right is the maximum 5-day running average derived from gridded average precipitation values (b)

Observed extreme precipitation pattern during the wet season is more variable at an increasing trend generally matching calculated precipitation pattern (Figure 16). At 95th per centile, extreme daily precipitation events are steadily maintained at ~13 mm/day during the wet season. The trend shows a steady increase of rainfall in the maximum 5-day rolling average in the wet season with an increase of ~17mm. Analysis of the inter-annual variability of the extreme rainfall events shows that the wettest events were recorded in the period between 1997 and 1999 as well as 2005 and 2010 which coincides with the historical flooding occurrences (Umar and Nyanga, 2011; Mubaya et al., 2010). Previous studies also show that the frequency, intensity and geographic distribution of flood incidents have increased over the past two decades (UNDP, 2010). Historical floods have occurred in Zambia over the years causing loss of lives and property. For example, the floods in 1998/99, there was total loss of harvests, which led to increased unemployment and a 10per cent poverty incidence (Stern, 2007).

iii) Moisture Stress

Observed moisture stress was determined as the maximum number of consecutive days with the ratio of Et (actual evapotranspiration) to Ep (potential evapotranspiration) below 0.5. Typically, this is a measure of plant water supply in relation to plant water requirement.

Potential evapotranspiration (Ep) defines the maximum possible water loss from a vegetation covered land surface while actual evapotranspiration (Et) is the actual water loss from soil.

Ep was calculated using the FAO *Penman-Monteith equation*

Where:

$$ET_o = \frac{0.408\Delta(R_n - G) + \gamma \frac{900}{T + 273}u_2(e_s - e_a)}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + 0.34u_2)}$$

 ET_o is the reference evapotranspiration (mm/day), R_n is net radiation at the crop surface (MJ/m²/day), G is soil heat flux density (MJ/m²/day), T is mean daily air temperature at 2 m height (°C), u_2 is wind speed at 2 m height (m/s) e_s is saturation vapour pressure (kPa), e_a is actual vapour pressure (kPa), $e_s - e_a$ saturation vapour pressure deficit (kPa), \mathfrak{E}_s slope vapour pressure curve (kPa/°C),

psychrometric constant (kPa /°C).

Et on the other hand was calculated using Brutsaert and Strickler equation (Brutsaert and Strickler, 1979 (McMahon et al., 2013)potential, reference crop and pan evaporation covers topics that are of interest to researchers, consulting hydrologists and practicing engineers. Topics include estimating actual evaporation from deep lakes and from farm dams and for catchment water balance studies, estimating potential evaporation as input to rainfall-runoff models, and reference crop evapotranspiration for small irrigation areas, and for irrigation within large irrigation districts. Inspiration for this guide arose in response to the authors' experiences in reviewing research papers and consulting reports where estimation of the actual evaporation component in catchment and water balance studies was often inadequately handled. Practical guides using consistent terminology that cover both theory and practice are not readily available. Here we provide such a guide, which is divided into three parts. The first part provides background theory and an outline of the conceptual models of potential evaporation of Penman, Penman-Monteith and Priestley-Taylor, as well as discussions of reference crop evapotranspiration and Class-A pan evaporation. The last two subsections in this first part include techniques to estimate actual evaporation from (i

Where:

$$E_{Act}^{\beta \gamma} = (2\alpha_{\beta \gamma} - 1) \frac{\Delta}{\Delta + \gamma} \frac{R_n}{\lambda} - \frac{\gamma}{\Delta + \gamma} f(u_2) (v_{\delta}^* - v_{\delta})$$

 E_{Act}^{BS} is the actual evapotranspiration estimated by Brutsaert and Strickler equation (mm/day),

 α_{PT} is the Priestley-Taylor coefficient,

- Δ is the slope vapour pressure curve (kPa/°C),
- γ is the psychrometric constant (kPa/°C),
- R_n is the net radiation at the crop surface (MJ/m2/day),
- $v_{\partial}^* v_{\partial}$ is vapour pressure deficit (kPa),
- u_2 is wind speed at 2 m height (m/s).



Figure 17: Observed moisture stress determined as the maximum number of consecutive days with the ratio of Et to Ep below 0.5

Patterns of moisture stress in Zambia show a decreasing general trend in the wet season and an increasing general trend in the dry season. In the wet season however, our analysis indicates increased variability over the years with 1990, 1994, 1996, 1998, 1999 and 2014 showing high moisture stresses. These coincides with the 1991-1994, 1999-2000 and 2014-2016 drought events. The general trend of moisture stresses in the dry season records an increase of approximately 20 days since 1982 (Figure 17). This could be attributed to reduction in the dry season precipitation and the overall temperature increase over this period. The high rainfall during this period can explain the drop in the moisture stress in 2004-2005 and up to 2009, and the reduction in 2015 was due to El Nino/flood events respectively experienced in Zambia during this period.

iv) Season Onset

Start and of length of growing period is determined by 5-consecutive growing days (GD), where GD is estimated using a moisture-limiting and temperature-limiting approach. Growing days are the days during a season when average temperatures are greater than or equal to 5°C and precipitation exceeds half the potential evapotranspiration (FAO, 1980; Fischer et al., 2008).

The variations in the onset date between the years could be up to 29 days (4 weeks) (Figure 18). A delay of 1 or 2 weeks in the onset is sufficient to destroy the expectations of a normal harvest. A false start of a season results into planting, encouraged by a false start of rainfall, which may be followed by prolonged dry spells whose duration of 2 weeks or more may be critical to plant germination and/or growth (Leclerc et al., 2014). For instance, in 1984 and 2009, season onset was earlier in Zambia (Figure 18) which could have led to a risk of farmers sowing too late. To most subsistence farmers, having prior information about the onset of a season has strong implications for their agricultural activities and hence on crop yields later in the season. Enough soil moisture is required to meet the needs of a crop during sowing. Therefore, information on the onset of the season is significant in planning the timely preparation of farmlands and in reducing the risks involved in planting too early or too late (Omotosho et al., 2000).



Figure 18: Starting of the growing season in Zambia, 1982-2015 determined by 5-consecutive growing days

The starting of rains is a very crucial factor in the development of agriculture and in adapting to climate change. For example, earlier planting can avoid the mid-season dry spell or nitrogen-removing excessive rainfall for crops such as maize when it is in its most vulnerable growth phase. The impact of rainfall variability on crop production is therefore clearly tied to the planting date and timing with respect to the crop phenological phases (Tadross et al., 2009).

v) Length of Growing Period

The length of the growing period (LGP) is determined as the total number of growing days. Growing days are estimated using moisture-limiting and temperature-limiting approach. Growing days are the days during a season when average temperatures are greater than or equal to 5° C and precipitation exceeds half the potential evapotranspiration (FAO, 1980). The length of the growing period can be viewed as the entire period in which growth can theoretically take place. LGP variations are a useful climatic indicator and have several important climatological applications (Robeson, 2002).

In Zambia, the length of the growing period from 1982 to 2015 varied from the highest at 140 days in 1986 and the lowest at 90 days in 1994 (Figure 19). The year 1994 can be explained by the presence of a drought. Going back to the question of, "is precipitation increasing or decreasing over the years in Zambia?" Using the length of the growing period, the general trend shows that the growing days are actually decreasing during the wet season. This means that growing days or the days in which precipitation exceeds half the potential evapotranspiration are decreasing. This supports the argument that there is a reduction in the frequency of rainy days bringing about seasons with longer dry spells interspersed by more intense heavy precipitation events.

A decrease in LGP could result, for example, in alteration of planting dates determining lower yields of traditionally planting crops, which may not fully mature. The decrease of LGP will not only affect crops in Zambia, but also livestock keeping, as growing days affect forage availability (Thornton et al. 2011). Fluctuations in the annual rainfall series and the episodes of above and below average rainfalls have previously been identified in Africa.



vi) Heat Stress

In the coming years, temperatures across all of Southern Africa are expected to increase gradually. This is expected to bring about higher incidences of extreme heatwaves and elevate evapotranspiration rates (US-EPA Climate Change Division, 2016). Rising temperatures have brought a negative impact on the agricultural sector by compromising livestock and crop health (Thurlow et al., 2012) and reducing labour productivity, as well as in the human health (Gannon et al., 2014).

In this study, heat stress is generally determined by looking at three indicators; temperature variability (see discussion on temperature), growing degree-days (GDD) and the total number of days with maximum temperature greater or equal to 35° C. GDD, calculated at a base temperature (T_{hase}) of 10° C is a weather-based indicator for accessing/monitoring crop development, and determining suitability of a region for crop production, cutting dates for forage crops and calculation of harvest dates. The base temperature is that temperature below which plant growth is zero. Any daily mean temperature below $\ T_{\it base}$ was set to $\ T_{\it base}$ and therefore, giving a zero value. Likewise, the maximum mean temperature was capped at 35 °C above which most plants do not grow any faster.

$$GDD = \sum \left(\left(\frac{T_{max} - T_{min}}{2} \right) - T_{base} \right)$$

Or
$$GDD = \sum (T_{mean} - T_{base})$$

Where;

- T_{max} is the daily maximum air temperature
- T_{min} is the daily minimum air temperature
- *T_{mean}* is the average temperature
- *T_{base}* is the temperature below which the crop development does not occur

The total GDDs per season were calculated by adding up all the daily GDDs in that season of the year and average was calculated to obtain mean GDDs per day of a season in a specific year in °C/day. Total number of days with maximum temperature greater or equal to 35 °C were obtained per season in a year. This was done by identifying days in which maximum temperature was greater or equal to 35 °C and adding up these days for each season in a specific year.



Figure 20: On the left is observed growing degree-days (GDD) in Zambia 1982-2015. On the right, number of observed hot days with temperature capped at 35° C and above

Average GDD trend during the wet season between 1982 and 2005 is highly significant. This clearly coincides with the upward temperature trend observed during the same period. GDD in the wet season varies between 11.6 and 14° C per day over the years while it varies between 5 and 11° C per day during the dry season. The general trend during the wet season shows a gradual increase of GDD in the wet season from ~12.6° C /day to ~12.9° C /day (Figure 20). This is an upward trend of about 0.3° C /day, resulting from the variability in maximum and minimum daily temperature. The dry season shows an extremely high increase in the GDD from 10.2 to 11.4° C /day attributed to an increase in temperature over the years.

The number of observed hot days with temperature greater or equal to 35° C shows a slight increase during the wet season with a general increase from 5 to 6 days, i.e. an increase with one day over the period between 1982 and 2015. In the dry season, an increase of 15 days has been registered. This shows that winters are actually becoming warmer due to climate change. The conspicuous peak in 1997 is attributed to the 1997/1998 El-Nino event that was accompanied by high temperatures.

Warmer temperatures are expected to bring about a devastating effect on the agricultural production in the sub-Saharan Africa through exposing crops to heat stresses. This will lead to reduced animal and crop production as it increases the intensity, frequency and relative damage due to heat stress (Teixeira et al., 2013).

Conclusions for Chapter 2

The last three decades have been characterized by large inter-annual variability and frequent droughts (Arslan et al., 2015), and are projected to continue (Thurlow et al., 2012). Jain (2007) reports that, for the main growing season (November to April), an increase in the November to December mean temperature and a decrease in the January to February mean rainfall (likely relating to drought levels) have negative impacts on net farm revenue. At the same time, farmers have perceived less predictable rains, later season onsets, and frequent dry spells (Mulenga et al., 2017).



Chapter 3: Vulnerability analysis for selected crop and livestock value chains in Zambia

<u>Chapter authors:</u> Julian Ramirez-Villegas; Brayan Mora; John Mutua; Jeison Mesa; and Caroline Mwongera

<u>Key messages</u>

- The amount of suitable areas for crops is projected to decrease, with rice and cowpea being the most negatively impacted crops. The frequency of heat stress days for livestock increases, with cattle and pig being particularly impacted.
- Several areas for work for the Zambian Government and society appear in terms of improving adaptive capacity in the country. Most notably, a reduction in the prevalence of stunting in rural areas likely through sustainable agricultural intensification and enhanced resilience, improvements in the capacity of education institutions, and an overall reduction in the incidence of poverty across the country.
- Overall, agricultural vulnerability is greatest towards the western, southwestern and northern districts. In the coming decades, unless adaptive capacity is enhanced, and adaptation strategies are implemented throughout the country, climate change will exacerbate vulnerability even further.
- Vulnerability of livestock production is greater than that of crops. Livestock vulnerability is greatest in the warm semi-arid and warm subhumid zone due to their greatest exposure to heat stress.

3.1 Introduction

Zambia lies within the tropics but due to its high altitude, it enjoys a subtropical climate characterized by two seasons (Mulenga et al., 2017; Stern and Cooper, 2011). During the cool and hot dry season (May to October) rainfall is usually absent, while temperatures vary from 16° C to 21° C; these areas enable irrigation of winter maize. The second season, referred to as the wet season (November to April) receives rainfall with December and January/February being the wettest months. Mean annual rainfall ranges between 750 mm (southern Zambia) and 1400 mm (northern Zambia). Because of these variations, Zambia has been classified into four agroecological zones (Figure 21) (FAO/ IIASA, 2002). The wettest areas (warm subhumid, cool sub-humid) are located towards the north and north-west, towards the border with the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC). Conversely, the drier semi-arid areas (cool and warm) are located towards the south.

The warm semi-arid zone is a low on rainfall, and receives mean rainfall of below 800 mm per annum from November to about mid-December, due to its low altitudes that range between 400 to 900 meters above sea level (Shitumbanuma et al., 2016). It has an average growing season of 80 to 120 days (Umar, 2012). The soil type in this region is loam to clay on the valley floor, while on the escarpments it has coarse to fine textured loamy shallow soils. Thus, the region supports the growth of short-duration crop varieties such as sesame, sorghum, groundnut, bean, sweet potato, cassava, rice, cotton and millet (Green Climate Fund, 2018). Beans grown in these areas should be of fast maturity between 80 and 120 days. The zone has a high potential for irrigated agriculture especially for horticultural crops. Extensive cattle production can be practiced, though, due to low altitude, the region is prone to tsetse fly infestation.

In the cool semi-arid zone, rainfall ranges between 800 and 1000 mm per annum. The growing season is between 100 to 140 days (Shitumbanuma et al., 2016). The most common soils in this region are red to brown clay, to loam. These soils are moderately to strongly leached (Chikowo, 2019). The region supports the production of a variety of food and cash crops. Food crops include maize, vegetables and groundnut. The zone is also suitable for livestock production and beef, dairy and poultry production are practiced (Moonga & Moonga, 2018). Other crops supported, particularly in sandy soils, include rice, cashew nut, timber and vegetables.

The wettest areas (cool and warm sub-humid zones) receive rainfall of between 1,000 mm and 1,500 mm per annum between October

to mid-December. They have the longest growing season that ranges from 120 to 150 days (Shitumbanuma et al., 2016). With Copperbelt Province excluded, there is massive leaching of bases in high rainfall areas, thus, hydrogen and aluminium ions are accumulated in the soils (Mweetwa et al., 2016). The soils leached are acidic in nature and thus need the application of agricultural lime and use of manure and organic matter for soil improvement. With perennial streams, the region has the potential to use the waters for small-scale irrigated agriculture. Dominant crops include cassava, bean, millets and maize. Other crops such as sorghum, beans, groundnut, coffee, sugarcane, rice and pineapple can be grown. Besides, fisheries resource management and aquaculture can be practiced to offer income opportunities for the population and for development (Green Climate Fund, 2018).



Figure 21: Agroecological zones of Zambia (left), areas cropped (centre), and areas with pastures (right). Data for the left panel were taken from FAO/IIASA (2002), and for the centre and right panels from Ramankutty et al. (2008)

Most of Zambia's territory grows either crops or rears livestock (Figure 21), with crops distributed mainly across the wetter and cooler areas, whereas the pasture areas are distributed mainly across the drier warm areas. The main staple crop is maize, though many other crops including sorghum, cowpea, rice, wheat, cotton and groundnut are also grown (Arslan et al., 2015; Jain, 2007; Rippke et al., 2016). Given the extent of variation in agroecological conditions, and the importance of agriculture, Zambian agriculture is exposed to a variety of climate hazards, which create substantial risks for its farming population (Mubaya et al., 2012; Stern and Cooper, 2011). This is especially so in areas where adaptive capacity is low due to lack of or limited access to financial, health, technical advisory and education services.

Here, we assess vulnerability for crops and livestock in Zambia, using a numerical analysis that explicitly accounts for the level of exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity across the entire territory. The analysis uses the vulnerability framework proposed by the IPCC (Adger, 2006; IPCC, 2014; O'Brien et al., 2007), which defines vulnerability as "the degree to which a system is susceptible to injury, damage or harm". Vulnerability encompasses three dimensions, namely, exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity. Exposure is the amount of climate variation to which a system is subjected; sensitivity is the degree to which the system is affected; and adaptive capacity is the ability to adjust, cope or benefit from the expected climate variations. We implemented the analysis by selecting a series of country-relevant indicators for each of the dimensions of vulnerability and then aggregating them to determine vulnerability for each value chain and district in Zambia.

The specific application of the vulnerability framework we use here is fully described by Parker et al. (2019), whereby vulnerability is calculated using crop-specific sensitivities, exposure to natural hazards and a series of indicators of adaptive capacity (Eq. 1).

$Overall vulnerability = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \square \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{Growing \ area_{i}}{Total \ area} * S_{i} + E_{i} \right) \right) - AC \right)$

[Equation 1]

Where *i* is each value chain; *Growing area* refers to the extent of suitable area for the crop *i*; *Total area* is the total area for all value chains; S_i is the sensitivity of the value chain *i*; E_i is the exposure of each value chain; and *AC* is the adaptive capacity. For livestock species, the ratio of growing to total area is not used in the calculation.

3.2 Sensitivity of value chains to climate change

Sensitivity was defined for crops using suitability, whereas for livestock using the Temperature-humidity Index (THI). Crop suitability measures the extent to which the climatic conditions at particular sites allow farmers to grow a given crop (Rippke et al., 2016; Taba-Morales et al., 2020). The THI helps determine the extent to which a particular livestock species is experiencing heat stress conditions likely to reduce productivity in a particular area. To calculate sensitivity, the following analyses were conducted:

Crop suitability analysis. We calculated changes in crop suitability using the Maxent suitability model for all five crops of interest (groundnut, soybean, bean, cowpea and rice). Maxent modelling was performed using available crop presence data and publicly available gridded climate data for the present and future (2030, 2050), for two Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs): RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5. The RCPs try to capture these future trends and make predictions of how concentrations of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere will change in the future as a result of human activity. RCP 4.5 is an intermediate emissions pathways scenario, whereas RCP 8.5 is a high-end scenario, consistent with the highest greenhouse gas emissions.

Crop presence data were gathered from agricultural census, and public databases including GBIF (<u>http://www.gbif.org</u>) and Genesys (<u>http://www.genesys-pgr.</u> org). Current climate data were gathered from WorldClim (Hijmans et al., 2005), whereas future climate was downloaded from CCAFS-Climate (Navarro-Racines et al., 2020). The future climate data were from five representative Global Climate Models. Livestock heat stress analysis. We used daily gridded data from both current and future (2021-2050) periods to assess thermal heat stress conditions using a temperature-humidity index (THI). This index is based on temperature and relative humidity parameters and is considered a suitable indicator for assessing the level of heat stress on animals caused by weather conditions. THI was calculated using various equations for specific livestock species i.e. cattle (National Research Council, 1971), sheep and goat (LPHSI, 1990), and poultry (LPHSI, 1990). The THI was classified into four categories: none, mild, moderate, and severe. The sensitivity of livestock to climate change was assessed by analyzing changes in the frequency of severe thermal heat stress (THI) events, which is when livestock productivity starts to be affected by heat conditions. We computed the difference between the current and future periods.

Once future projected changes in crop suitability and livestock heat stress were calculated, we reclassified them into a scale from -1 (no sensitivity) to 1 (high sensitivity). Areas that do not grow the crop or have projected changes in the range -5 to +5percentage are assigned a value of zero for the sensitivity indicator. Livestock analyses were conducted for all districts.

Figure 22 shows the sensitivity of all crops and livestock species analysed for 2030 under RCP 4.5. All crops experience some degree of sensitivity, with rice and cowpea being the most sensitive crops in this particular scenario and period. Groundnut is the least sensitive crop. As seen in Figure 22, these crop-specific impacts result in an overall decrease in areas virtually throughout the entire country.



Figure 22: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analysed to climate change under RCP 4.5for 2030

Negative impacts of climate change occur in the north and north-west of the country, towards the semi-humid areas, and hence these areas show the greatest sensitivity across crops. Similar results are seen for livestock, although with generally less sensitivity as compared to crops. We note that pigs and cattle are the species that experience the greatest increase in severe heat stress days, and hence the greatest sensitivity. Results for other scenarios and periods are shown in Supplementary Figures S1–S3. In general, there is consistency with respect to RCP 4.5 (2030), though with generally less sensitivity for crops under RCP 8.5, likely because of projected precipitation increases in the wet season (IPCC, 2014; Knutti and Sedláček, 2012). Temperature stress for livestock, on the other hand, is more prominent for RCP 8.5, because of more drastic temperature increases.



Figure 23: Projected changes in suitable land area for RCP 4.5 (left) and RCP 8.5 (right) by 2030, for the five crop-based value chains analysed

Figure 23 shows the projected changes in suitable land area by 2030 in Zambia. Negative changes of climate change are seen with overall at least a 25 per cent reduction in suitable land for both RCP 4.5 and under RCP 8.5 in all the regions of Zambia.

3.3 Exposure to natural hazards

A wide range of hazards affect agriculture in Zambia. Agriculture is primarily rainfed, and highly exposed to climate variability and change. The last three decades have been characterized by large interannual variability and frequent droughts (Arslan et al., 2015). These trends are projected to continue into the future (Thurlow et al., 2012). Long-term observations indicate that Zambia's territory has also been warming in the last few decades (Mulenga et al., 2017). For instance, Jain (2007) reports that, for the main growing season (November to April), an increase in the November-December mean temperature and a decrease in the JanuaryFebruary mean rainfall (likely relating to drought levels) have negative impacts on net farm revenue. At the same time, farmers have perceived less predictable rains, later rainy season onsets and more frequent dry spells (Mulenga et al., 2017). Concomitantly, land degradation is a major concern across sub-Saharan Africa, with major impacts on crop and livestock productivity throughout the region (Nkonya et al., 2016). Land degradation is tightly related to burning of biomass on the soil surface as part of the standard management practices that many farmers employ throughout Africa¹. In assessing vulnerability, it is important to consider crop and livestock exposure to these hazards. We thus mapped natural hazards, as shown in Table 1.

Hazard	Reference(s) that justify inclusion	Data link
Drought	Thurlow et al. (2012)	https://bit.ly/2pgeN0p
	Arslan et al. (2015)	
	Mulenga et al. (2017)	
Soil erosion	Nkonya et al. (2016)	https://bit.ly/2JBU0eC
Flooding	Mubaya et al. (2012)	https://bit.ly/34kl9ux
	Manhique et al. (2015)	
	Mulenga et al. (2017)	
Fires	Phillips (2012)	https://go.nasa.gov/3200nPc
	Govender et al. (2006)	

Table 1: Key natural hazards for Zambia

Each of these were normalized on a scale from 0 to 1, and then used into Equation 1 for each district of Zambia. Figure 24 shows the spatial distribution of the four natural hazards considered here. Aridity is the hazard that most affects Zambia. Exposure to arid conditions is particularly high towards the south, and is lowest in the north-western districts. Firesin the period 2001–2018, are a widespread problem, but of moderate intensity. Erosion is a much-localized issue towards the very south of the country.



Figure 24: Spatial distribution of natural hazards across Zambia

3.4 Adaptive capacity across the Zambian territory

Adaptive capacity refers to the ability of a system to adjust to changes in climate, to moderate potential damages, to take advantage of opportunities or to cope with the consequences (IPCC, 2014). Perez et al. (2019) recently conducted a systematic literature review on variables typically used to assess adaptive capacity. Here we gathered geospatial data on as many of those variables as possible and incorporated them on the analysis. We focused our attention on high-resolution datasets. The variables included in the adaptive capacity analysis are listed in Table 2. All adaptive capacity variables were normalized so that 0 indicates no adaptive capacity and 1 indicates absolute adaptive capacity.

Variable	Description
Travel time	Travel time (in hours) to major cities is used as a measure of accessibility to markets
Poverty index	Poverty is originally the poverty headcount ratio; that is, the number of people living under \$1.25 per day, adjusted to 2005 PPP.
Wasting	Prevalence of wasting measured as the percentage of children under 5 years of age with low weight for height
Underweight	Prevalence of underweight measured as the percentage of children under 5 years of age that have low weight for age
Stunting	Prevalence of stunting measured as the percentage of children under 5 years of age that have low height for age
Education	The "education index" represents the potential of a population to access information and knowledge in a certain area in 2010. The index results from a combination of mainly three dominant variables, namely, "adult literacy", "primary gross enrolment rate" and "prevalence of HIV".
Institutional capital	Institutional capital index in 2010. The "institutional capital index" relates to the management means that determine the potential adaptive capacity degree. It is the combination of three underlying indexes: the "governance index", "conflictuality index" and the "environmental management index".
Access to water	Distance to the nearest river or water body is used to represent access to irrigation and household consumption water.
Health care	Distance to health care facilities reported in Maina et al. (2019)
Crop diversification	Count of the total number of crops that are growing in a particular area. Crop distribution areas taken from MapSPAM (You et al., 2017)/

Table 2: Adaptive capacity variables used in the vulnerability assessment for Zambia

In general, all indicators of adaptive capacity varied substantially across Zambia (Figure 25). There was also significant variation between adaptive capacity indicators for any given district. For instance, districts were generally subjected to relatively high rates of poverty, but were also highly diverse in terms of crops, and had relatively good access to hospitals and markets. Rates of stunting in children were generally high in the north of the country and decreased towards the south. Rates of stunting (low height for age) were generally greater than the rates of wasting (low weight for height) and underweight (low weight for age). Access to water was also relatively limited in most districts, as was the capacity for and availability of education.



Figure 25: Spatial distribution of adaptive capacity indicators for Zambia. A value of zero indicates no adaptive capacity, and a value of 1 indicates absolute adaptive capacity

The analysis highlights several areas of work for the Zambian Government and society in terms of improving adaptive capacity in the country. Most notably, a reduction in the prevalence of stunting in rural areas, likely to be achieved through sustainable agricultural intensification and enhanced resilience (Arslan et al., 2015; Thurlow et al., 2012), improvements in the capacity of education institutions and an overall reduction in the incidence of poverty across the country.

3.5 Vulnerability of the Zambian agricultural sector to climate change

Using all of the indicators for sensitivity, exposure and adaptive capacity, we finally computed the vulnerability of the Zambian agricultural sector to climate change. Analyses focused on 2030 and 2050, and used two emissions scenarios, namely, RCP 8.5 (business as usual) and RCP 4.5 (partial implementation of Paris Agreement). We assessed vulnerability for the whole sector, separately for crops and livestock, and separately for each value chain. Our findings suggest that the overall crop and livestock vulnerability in 2030 is greatest towards the western and northern districts, and in specific pockets elsewhere (Figure 26). Conversely, vulnerability is lowest towards the centre and southeast of the country. By 2050, unless adaptive capacity is enhanced, and adaptation strategies are implemented throughout the country, climate change will exacerbate vulnerability even further (Supplementary Figure S4).



Figure 26: Overall vulnerability of Zambian agriculture to climate change by 2030 for RCP 4.5 (left) and RCP 8.5 (right). Supplementary Figure S4 shows results for the 2050s

In the areas of greatest vulnerability, we note a systematic reduction in the suitability of most of the crops analysed, as well as a mild increase in the frequency of severe heat stress days for livestock. We also note that these areas experience high poverty rates, stunting, and limited access to water. When looking at overall vulnerability across agroecological zones, several findings become apparent. First, that vulnerability of livestock production is greater than that of crops. Secondly, crop vulnerability is relatively uniform across agroecological zones, whereas for livestock it is clear that the warm semi-arid zone is the most vulnerable, followed by the warm subhumid zone (Table 3). This is due to a greater likelihood of heat stress both historically and in the future.

Value chain	Period	RCP	Cool / semi-arid	Warm / semi-arid	Cool / sub humid	Warm / sub humid
2 Crops 2	20206	RCP4.5	0.26	0.30	0.25	0.29
	20505	RCP8.5	0.21	0.22	0.23	0.27
	2050s	RCP4.5	0.25	0.30	0.25	0.29
		RCP8.5	0.18	0.19	0.23	0.25
Livestock	2030s	RCP4.5	0.70	0.63	0.87	0.71
		RCP8.5	0.70	0.63	0.87	0.65
	20506	RCP4.5	0.64	0.57	0.80	0.58
	2050s	RCP8.5	0.64	0.57	0.74	0.46

Table 3: Average vulnerability index per agroecological zone for crops and livestock

Results for crop and livestock systems separately indicate that livestock is most vulnerable in southern Zambia (drier areas), whereas crops are most vulnerable towards the west and north-west of the country (Supplementary Figure S5). When analysing the contribution of individual value chains to overall vulnerability, we note significant differences in the geographic vulnerability for the different value chains (Figure 27). For instance, bean production is most vulnerable in the south of the country, whereas rice and cowpea production are most vulnerable towards the north-west Zambia. The vulnerability of livestock production was more geographically consistent across livestock species.



Figure 27: Contribution of different agricultural value chains to overall climate change vulnerability by 2030 for RCP 4.5 Supplementary Figures S6–S8 show results for RCP 4.5 by 2050s and for RCP 8.5 by 2030s and 2050s

Conclusions for Chapter 3

We applied a vulnerability framework that integrates Zambia's exposure to natural hazards, the sensitivity of its crop and livestock production systems to climate change, and the adaptive capacity of the farming population. Based on the findings presented here, we conclude that the Zambian government needs to invest significantly in enhancing adaptive capacity of the farming population, especially in relation to poverty rates, nutrition and access to education, in order to tackle climate change vulnerability. Particular attention must be paid to livestock systems in warm zones due to their sensitivity to heat stress and its potential impact on meat and milk productivity. Similarly, priority should be given to addressing crop vulnerability with emphasis in western Zambia. Addressing crop vulnerability will require a tailored crop-specific approach that enhances adaptive capacity and resilience locally. Strategies such as improved seeds, improved agronomic management, improved infrastructure, and climate risk reduction strategies such as climate information services and insurance.



Chapter 4: Modelling the implication of current and future climate on pests and diseases

Chapter authors: Wilson Nguru and Caroline Mwongera

<u>Key messages</u>

- Warm average temperatures and high relative humidity are climatic conditions that favour the prevalence of pests and diseases in Zambia
- For the 2030s, i.e. the period between 2021 and 2040, both RCP 4.5 and 8.5 scenarios indicate an increase in the distribution and infestation of pests and diseases in Zambia
- For the 2050s i.e. 2041 to 2060, the results predict a reduction in distribution and infestations of pests and diseases in comparison to 2030s. Under RCP 4.5, prevalence reduces because of the underlying technologies adapted to reduce emissions, whereas for RCP 8.5 climatic conditions become unfavourable for the pests and diseases.
- Adoption of management practices aimed at lowering greenhouse gas emissions and carbon capture, such as use of clean energy, forestry, agroforestry and bio pesticides will be beneficial as a long-term response in mitigating climate change, thereby creating unfavourable environmental conditions that inhibit pests and diseases.

4.1 Introduction

We investigated the impact of climate change on important pests and diseases for the selected value chains in Zambia. To determine the most important pest and disease affecting production for each value chain, we gathered information from literature review, which included websites, reports, journals and online newspapers. Optimum environmental conditions for the development of the selected pests and diseases were also evaluated from literature (Table 4).

Table 4: Common pests and diseases for the selected value chains, and their optimum temperature, rainfall and relative humidity conditions

Value chain	Pest or disease	Common name	Scientific name	Optimum Temperature	Optimum Rainfall	Optimum Relative humidity range (%)	Source
Rice	Pest	African rice gall midge	<u>Orseolia</u> oryzivora	26-30° C	Frequent rain or mist. Above 800 mm per annum	82-88	(Nwilene et al., 2006; Pathak and Khan, 1994)
	Disease	Rice blast	<u>Magnaporthe</u> grisea	24-28° C	High rainfall of up to 9.1 mm at a period of 2 rainy days at 141 days after sowing	56.7-80.4	(Dubey, 2003; Katsantonis et al., 2017; Ghini et al., 2011; Mahmood, 2017; Ghini & Bevitori, 2014)

Value chain	Pest or disease	Common name	Scientific name	Optimum Temperature	Optimum Rainfall	Optimum Relative humidity range (%)	Source
Bean	Pest	Legume pod borer	<u>Maruca vitrata</u>	19.5-29.3° C	Above 800 mm per annum	40-93	(Adati et al., 2004; Traorea1 et al., 2013)
	Disease	Bean blight	<u>Xanthomonas</u> <u>axonopodis pv.</u> <u>Phaseoli</u>	28-32° C	800-2000 mm per annum	85-95	(EPPO/CABI, 1986; He and Munkvold, 2012; Mahuku et al., 2006)
Groundnuts	Pest	Groundnut aphid	<u>Aphis craccivora</u>	24-28.5° C	below 1000 mm per annum	Above 65	(Javed et al., 2014; Amici et al., 2016; Mayeux, 1984)
	Disease	Groundnut rosette disease	Groundnut rosette disease	24-28.5° C	below 1000 mm per annum	Above 65	(CABI, 2015; Naidu et al., 1999)
	Disease	Cercospora leaf spot of groundnuts	<u>Cercospora</u> arachidicola	22.5-30.9° C	1.1-21.4 mm and 2-21 consecutive rain days in a season	75.2-99.9	(CABI, 2015; Dubey, 2005)
Cowpea	Pest	Bean flower thrips	<u>Megalurothrips</u> sjostedti	23–29 ° C	0.4 mm/ month	Below 10	("Infonet Biovision Home.," 2018; Lewis, 1997)
	Disease	Anthracnose of cowpea	Colletotrichum destructivum	22-30° C	8-36 mm and 1-3 consecutive rain days	63-96	(Cabi, 2015; Kaur et al., 2016)
Soybean	Pest	Cotton bollworm	<u>Helicoverpa</u> armigera	25-30° C	Little or no rain fall	45-55	(CABI, 2016; Kriticos et al., 2015; Weston and Desurmont, 2008)
	Disease	Stem and pod rot	<u>Athelia rolfsii</u>	24–30 °C	Warm and rainy	Above 90	(Ferrin, 2015; Mersha et al., 2019)

We evaluated the optimum environmental conditions for all the above pests and diseases and categorized two groups

of similar or almost similar ranges of temperature, precipitation and relative humidity (Table 5).

Table 5: Environmental parameters used in the modelling of suitability for important pests and diseases affecting the selected value chains

	Environmental conditions	Pests	Diseases
Group 1 Warm; high rainfall and medium to high humidity conditions	 Temperature 20° C to 30° C, rainfall between 800 mm and 2000 mm and relative humidity between 40 and 99 per cent 	 African rice gall midge Legume pod borer Bean flower thrips 	 Rice blast Bean blight leaf spot of groundnuts Anthracnose of cowpea Soybean stem and pod rot
Group 2 Warm; low rainfall conditions and medium relative humidity conditions	• Temperature ranging between 20° C and 30° C, rainfall less than 1000 mm and relative humidity between 45and 65 per cent	Groundnut aphidCotton bollworm	Groundnut rosette disease

The pest and disease suitability modelling was conducted using the Targeting tools (https://targetingtools.ciat.cgiar.org/). It evaluates if there are adequate climatic conditions within the growing season that would favour the pest and disease. In other words, it calculates climatic suitability of the resulting interaction between rainfall, temperature and relative humidity.

Data for current climatic suitability (1981-2015) was obtained from Worldclim (Hijmans et al., 2005) for annual temperature and annual precipitation. Relative humidity was calculated using the method first developed by the Numerical Terradynamic Simulation Group at the University of Montana (<u>www.</u> <u>ntsg.umt.edu</u>) in their MTCLIM model as proposed by Wesolowski et al. (2015) and Eccel (2012). Below are the equations.

We start by calculating dew point temperature, T_d

$$T_d = T_{min} - k \left(T_{day} - T_{min} \right)$$

Where, k is a calibration coefficient (here k =1), T_{min} is the daily minimum temperature and is the estimated diurnal temperature.

 $T_{day} = 0.45*(T_{max} - T_{mean}) + T_{mean}$

Where: T_{max} is the daily maximum temperature and T_{mean} is the daily mean temperature. Dew point (T_d) and temperature (T) are converted to relative humidity, using

 $RH = 100 \exp ((1.7625*T_d)/(243.04+T_d))/\exp ((1.7625*T_d)/243.04+T))$

Data for future climate was obtained from the CCAFS climate portal (<u>http:www.ccafsclimate.org</u>) for two periods (2030s and 2050s), and for two scenarios (RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5). The future climate data were obtained from five representative Global Climate Models and was downloaded from Australia's Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), and France's National Centre for Meteorological Research CNRM-CM3,. Averages were calculated for minimum, maximum temperatures and precipitation, and used to calculate relative humidity for the two scenarios at 5 km resolution.

4.2 Suitability of pests and diseases in Group 1

The pests in this group include the African rice gall midge and the Legume pod borer, while the diseases are Rice blast, Bean blight, Cercospora leaf spot of groundnuts, Anthracnose of cowpea and Stem and pod rot.

a. Current climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1

Currently, the pests and diseases in Group 1 are climatically more prevalent in the Luapula, Northern, Muchinga, Eastern, Central, Lusaka Provinces, and parts of the eastern parts of the Southern Province (Figure 28). Very high prevalence is observed in Muchinga, Northern, Luapula and Eastern Provinces. The provinces to the west of Zambia show less pest prevalence probably due low precipitation and low relative humidity.

b. Projected climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 for the 2030s

RCP 4.5 (Figure 29) shows a higher prevalence of pests and diseases compared to the current prevalence but at a reduced rate compared to RCP 8.5 (Figure 30). The future prevalence for the 2030s for RCP 8.5 (Figure 30) shows an increased prevalence from the current climatic conditions with high prevalence in all areas except the western and



Figure 29: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high



Figure 28: Current climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia (1981-2015), on a scale of low to high

northwestern provinces. This could be attributed to increased rainfall, temperatures and relative humidity. There is only a slight difference in pest and disease prevalence between RCP 4.5 and 8.5 during this period, with slightly increased infestation in the northwestern provinces for RCP 8.5. This is because the effects of the employment of technologies and strategies for reducing GHGE are assumed to be taking effect.



Figure 30: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high

c. Projected climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 for the 2050s

> Under projected climate suitability for pests and disease modelled for the 2050s, RCP 4.5 (Figure 31), shows a similar trend to RCP 8.5 (Figure 32). This exhibits a decreased infestation compared to the 2030s. During this period relative humidity continues



Figure 31: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high

4.3 Current climate suitability of pests and diseases in Group 2

The pests modelled in Group 2 are groundnut aphid and cotton bollworm, while the disease modellled is the groundnut rosette disease. Groundnut aphid is the vector for groundnut rosette disease.

a. Current climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2

Under current climate conditions, the pests and disease modelled in Group 2 are more prevalent in the Eastern Province, as well as the eastern parts of Muchinga Province and parts of the Northern Province neighbouring Congo (Figure 33). The provinces to the west and some in the north of Zambia show less pest and disease prevalence. Low prevalence to the west is probably due to low relative humidity while that to the north of the country it is due to high rainfall, which leads to the death of small sized pests and aphids, similar to the trend observed for diseases in Group 1. to decrease towards the east of the country. This creates less favourable environmental conditions for the development of pests and diseases. Under RCP 4.5, decreased infestation in comparison with the 2030s is as a result of the effects of the GHGE reduction technologies and strategies taking effect.



Figure 32: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high



Figure 33: Current climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia (1981-2015), on a scale of low to high

b. Projected climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 for the 2030s

Under projected climate change, it is noticeable that the climate suitability for groundnut aphid, groundnut rosette disease and cotton bollworm have significant suitability compared to the current suitability. A highly noticeable change is observed in both RCP 4.5 (Figure 34), and the pessimistic RCP 8.5 (Figure 35) scenario.



Figure 34: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high

c. Projected climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 for the 2050s

A noticeable decrease in suitability for both RCP 4.5 (Figure 36) and RCP 8.5 (Figure 37) is observed for the 2050s compared to the 2030s. However, future



Figure 36: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 4.5, on a scale of low to high



Figure 35: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 2 in Zambia for the 2030s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high

climatic suitability for the two pests and disease modelled under Group 2, will be higher compared to the current suitability. This may translate to new opportunities for groundnut and cotton production.



Figure 37: Projected future climate suitability for pests and diseases in Group 1 in Zambia for the 2050s under RCP 8.5, on a scale of low to high

Conclusions for Chapter 4

In Zambia, climate change will result in increased distribution of pests and diseases in the period between 2021 and 2039 because climate conditions will be more conducive. Consequently, plant health problems are anticipated to be of a greater significance. In the 2050s, there will be a decline in prevalence compared to 2030s. Most insect pests are poikilothermic, their body temperatures change with that of the environment, and therefore, almost all insects will be affected by changes in temperatures, with every degree rise in global temperature resulting in a shorter insect life cycle (Biber-Freudenberger et al., 2016). The shorter life cycle will result in increased populations of pests leading to increased crop destruction. General predictions show that an increase in temperatures will lead to the species shifting their geographical ranges to higher elevation where the species-specific climate requirements essential for their growth, survival and reproduction will be available (Kambrekar et al., 2016). Therefore, areas that are currently not favourable to these pests will become favourable, leading to the introduction of pests into areas where they are currently not present. During the periods of heavy rainfall, small pests may be reduced as they are washed away from crops (Pathak et al., 2012; Pareek et al., 2017). Heavy rainfall coupled with warm weather creates a higher relative humidity leading to increased infestation by most pests and the development of diseases such as rust and blight (Groenen, 2018).



Chapter 5: Vulnerability to climate change for selected value chains across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum

<u>Chapter authors:</u> Caroline Mwongera and Ivy Kinyua

<u>Key messages</u>

- Drought spells is the most significant climatic hazard for all the selected value chains
- Moisture stress is the second most significant hazard for legumes and small livestock
- Inadequate climate-smart knowledge and skills, which is exacerbated by inadequate extension services, and limited political will are the main factors that are likely to hinder effective implementation of climate adaptation actions
- Community values, attitudes, beliefs and practices contribute to inequalities, social exclusion and discrimination based on gender, age or social status.
- Scaling off-farm services such as index-based insurance, early warning systems, disease surveillance, credit and financing is required to enhance climate adaptation

5.1 Introduction

Consultations were carried out in a twoday workshop with actors representing the three commodity groups. The purpose of the workshop was to evaluate climaterelated risks and vulnerabilities across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum and prioritize appropriate adaptation options. Twentyfive experts representing (institutions, both public and private) project partners, value chain actors and key sector actors (climate change, environment, natural resource management, youth, gender, and sustainable development) attended the workshop.

Specific workshop objectives and activities included: presenting and discussing initial climate analysis (historic and future trends) for Zambia, identifying important climate hazards and key risks for the selected valuechain commodity groups, assessing the climate vulnerabilities across the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum (Figure 38) and identifying potential adaptation actions in the selected commodity groups. To achieve these objectives, we used an approach focusing on the value stages, i.e. input supply, on-farm production, harvesting, storage, processing, and product marketing.



5.2 Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum

SMALLHOLDER FARMERS

	CATEGORY A	CATEGORY B CONTROL CONTROL CO	CATEGORY C \widetilde{v} Facilitating Pro-Smallholder Market-Pull Agribusiness Partnerships
Typology	Subsistence farmers- production is mainly for household consumption	Economically active farmers - production is for household consumption and surplus is sold to local markets	Commercial farmers - production is mainly for selling to local markets
Main characteristics	 Viable to commercialize their food Low literacy levels Low levels of knowledge Low productivity High dependency ratio 	 High access to knowledge -through meetings, public and private extension High productivity High education levels 	 Aggregators High literacy levels High levels of knowledge Very High productivity
Farm size	<1ha	5 - 20ha	>20ha
Farming system	Mixed systems (crop and small livestock)	Mixed systems (crop and livestock e.g. cattle)	Oil crops(sunflower), cotton
Resources	 Low input use No mechanization No credit access-lack assets for collateral 	 Some mechanization Medium input use Village banking, micro finance, re-invest on the farm Are in farmer groups, cooperatives 	 High mechanization High technology Have irrigation systems Loans from commercial banks Are in farmers unions Linkages to external markets
Average income	<1600 Kwacha/Year	Multiple sources of income(on and off farm sources) agro dealers, groceries	High value crops
Challenges	 Provide off farm labor to other farms Cultural norms dictate gender roles e.g. land owned by men, women are expected to farm Socio-cultural influence on gender roles, asset ownership, value chain involvement 	Biophysical factors - mainly natural hazards	Government regulatory frameworks that hinder selling to markets (import and export) Economic issues such as exchange rates/interest rates limits borrowing External markets competitions

Figure 38: Characteristics of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum

5.3 Identification of key climate hazards for the selected value chains

Stakeholders identified nine key climate hazards: drought spells, heat stress, floods, reduced crop cycle, erosion risk, moisture stress, fire, winds, and pests and diseases as the most problematic for agricultural production in Zambia (Figure 39). In separate commodity value chain groups (legumes, rice, small livestock), participants ranked the climate hazards from 1 to 9, representing most to lowest significance, respectively. The most significant climatic hazard in the three commodity groups was identified as drought spells (Figure 39). This was attributed to the frequency in occurrence and the associated risks of precipitation changes that interfere with start and the length of the growing season thus affecting crucial crop development stages. Additionally, drought spells result in low production and sometimes total crop failure that increases food insecurity and poverty in the country. Irrigation infrastructure development is limited in the three value chain groups, which further limits adaptation to drought spells. Moisture stress was selected as the second most significant hazard for legumes and small livestock due to its contribution to soil-water deficits that affect plant functions consequently affecting productivity. For rice, flooding is the second most significant climate hazard because of the extensive damage caused by too much water, submerging the rice fields (Figure 39).

Climate Hazard Rank



Most significant hazards for each commodity group

1(most significant) to 9 (least significant)

Figure 39: Climate hazards selected as the most problematic for the three commodity groups, with scores of 1 to 9 representing the most to lowest significance, respectively

1. Legumes (beans, groundnuts, cowpeas, soybeans)

Drought spells have a major impact on legume production (Figure 40). In particular, drought affects the supply of seeds for the subsequent season causing an increase in seed prices. This consequently affects the quantity and quality of the harvested grain. Smallholder farmers, particularly in category A, followed by those in category B are the most affected. This is because these farmers depend on their own resources and lack crop insurance to offset crop losses. This leads to a chain reaction where legume yields reduce, thus reducing volumes for storage, processing and marketing. Market prices increase because of the high demand, but low supply of the grains. While this

affects the traders and retailers moderately, farmers' household incomes decrease affecting subsequent growing seasons.

Moisture stress has a moderate effect on the supply of legume inputs such as seed and fertilizers. Similar to drought, moisture stress affects the quality and quantity of seed for planting which affects the level of production (Figure 40). Small-scale farmers, particularly subsistence farmers under Category A of the E-SAPP beneficiary spectrum are especially affected because they depend on legumes for both household food security and incomes. Poor production leads to low quantities for storage and processing, hence low volumes for trading in the markets. This increases the costs of postharvest processes and increases the market prices due to poor supply.

*			LEGUI	MES	
Droug	ht Spells	Consequence 1	Consequence 2	Consequence 3	Consequence 4
Ā	Consequence description	Reduced availability of seed in the next season	Increased seed price	Reduced quality of seed	Reduced quantity of chemicals/fertilisers used
out Supp	Severity of the consequence	MAJOR	MAJOR	MODERATE	MAJOR
Ē	Who is impacted?	Small scale farmers (young and old)	Large and small scale farmers	Small scale farmers	Agro dealers and input suppliers
duction	Consequence description	Reduced production	Seed loss	Low use of agrochemicals	Reduced productivity
	Severity of the consequence	MAJOR	MAJOR	MINOR	MAJOR
0n - Fc	Who is impacted?	Small scale farmers without irrigation	Small scale farmers	Small scale traders	Small scale farmers
est	Consequence description	Reduced quality of produce	Reduced volumes to process	Reduced aggregation	Low volumes for packaging and storage
t- Hanv	Severity of the consequence	MODERATE	MODERATE	MODERATE	MODERATE
Pos	Who is impacted?	Processors and women mostly	Processors and women mostly	Farmer groups/traders	Farmers/cooperatives
	Consequence description	Low tradeable volumes	High commodity prices	Reduced incomes	Low transportation activities
Market	Severity of the consequence	MODERATE	MODERATE	MINOR	MINOR
	Who is impacted?	Traders, processors, retailers	Consumers	Traders and small scale farmers	Traders

Moisture stress		Consequence 1	Consequence 2	Consequence 3	Consequence 4	
2	Consequence description	Reduced availability of seed for next season	Increased seed price	Reduced quality of seed	Reduced quantity of chemicals/fertilisers used	
but Supp	Severity of the consequence	MODERATE	MODERATE	MODERATE	MINOR	
<u> </u>	Who is impacted?	Small scale farmers and mostly men	Large and small scale farmers (mostly men)	Small scale farmers	Agro dealers	
duction	Consequence description	Reduced production	Reduced productivity	Moisture stress at land preparation, difficult to till land		
	Severity of the consequence	MODERATE	MODERATE	MODERATE		
On - Fa	Who is impacted?	Small scale farmers without irrigation	Small scale farmers	Small scale farmers, mostly women		
est	Consequence description	Reduced quantity to process	Reduced quality of produce			
t- Harv	Severity of the consequence	MODERATE	MODERATE			
Pos	Who is impacted?	Processors and women mostly	Processors and women mostly			
	Consequence description	Low tradeable volumes	High commodity prices			
Market	Severity of the consequence	MODERATE	MODERATE			
	Who is impacted?	Traders who are mainly men and youth (small scale)	Women who are purchasing legumes for the households	9		

Figure 40: Effects of drought spells and moisture stress on the legume commodity group

2. Rice

The impact of a drought spell on rice production is severe because the crop has very high water requirements (Figure 41). Due to its sensitivity to drought spells, the rice crop wilts significantly reducing yields. More importantly, it leads to food insecurity for the smallholder farming communities. Smallholder farmers depend on the crop for food security. Reduced rice quantities and quality lead to low prices for rice, which significantly decreases household incomes. Similarly, floods severely affect rice production. Too much water washes away inputs e.g. seeds and fertilizers used in the rice field. Crops are submerged in water resulting in low production, ultimately causing acute food shortages. Incidences of pests and diseases increase during floods also affect the yields. Low production translates into economic losses for smallholder farming households who depend on rice production for their incomes. Besides reducing volumes for processing, floods can also make it physically challenging to access storage facilities and market centres contributing to post-harvest losses.

×	^K u/r		RIC	Œ	
رم Droug	ht Spells	Consequence 1	Consequence 2	Consequence 3	Consequence 4
	Consequence description	Low input demand	Low availability of quality inputs	High loan default rates	
ut Supp	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	MAJOR	
dul	Who is impacted?	Men	Men	Men	
duction	Consequence description	Low yield/production	Poor crop stand	Crop wilting	Food insecurity
	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE
0n - Fa	Who is impacted?	Men	Men	Men	Men,women and youth
est	Consequence description	Grain quality poor	Low yields/production		
st- Han	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE		
Ğ	Who is impacted?	Women	Men,women and youth		
بر (Consequence description	Low pricing	Low profitability	Increases poverty	
Marke	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	MAJOR	
	Who is impacted?	Men	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth	
Flood	IS	Consequence 1	Consequence 2	Consequence 3	Consequence 4
Ŋ	Consequence description	Low access to inputs	Low uptake of inputs by farmers	Inputs will be washed away	
but Supp	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE	
드	Who is impacted?	Men	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth	
duction	Consequence description	Crops will be submerged in water	Poor crop stand	Low yield/production	Food insecurity
	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE
On - Fi	Who is impacted?	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth
est	Consequence description	Difficult to access storage facilities	Post harvest losses	Increased incidences of pests and diseases	Increased moisture content
st- Harv	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	MAJOR	MODERATE	SEVERE
Po	Who is impacted?	Women	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth	Women
	Consequence description	Difficulties to access markets	Poor quality products	Low profitability	Increases poverty
Market	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	MAJOR	MAJOR
	Who is impacted?	Men	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth	Men, women and youth

Figure 41: Effects of drought spells and floods on the rice value chain

3. Small livestock (local poultry, sheep, goats, pig)

Small livestock production is severely affected by drought spells (Figure 42). Apart from the reduced availability of pasture and water, there is increased pests and disease incidences. This affects input supply and the demand for food supplementation and pesticides for disease management increases. These consequences disproportionately affect the men more, as they are more involved in animal husbandry tasks. Due to reduced precipitation associated with drought spells, hydropowered processing plants are severely affected. This affects timely processing of livestock products and proper postharvest handling reducing packaging, supply and quality of products delivered to the markets.

Moisture stress has a major effect on pasture and water availability, thus requiring supplementation for livestock production (Figure 42). This leads to poor nutrition and reduced animal performance. This moderately contributes to post-harvest losses because of poor quality of meat, milk, eggs, wool and reduced market prices. Men and women play important roles in the management of small livestock hence both are affected, but differently at each value chain stage.
ж	K X X X			
Drought Spells		Consequence 1	Consequence 2	Consequence 3
Input Supply	Consequence description	Limit production of raw materials for feed	High price of feed due to low supply	High loan default rates
	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE
	Who is impacted?	Men	Men	
On - Farm production	Consequence description	Reduced availability of pasture and water	Llivestock breeding performance declines	Increased incidences of disease
	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	SEVERE
	Who is impacted?	Men and women	Men and women	Men and women
Post- Harvest	Consequence description	Production is affected which reduces processing	Impacts hydro electricity supply affecting processing	
	Severity of the consequence	SEVERE	SEVERE	
	Who is impacted?	Men and women	Men and women	
Market	Consequence description	Drought supply and quality of meat	Packaging affected by powercuts	
	Severity of the consequence	MAJOR	MODERATE	
	Who is impacted?	Men and women	Men and women	
	00			
Moiet				
Moist	ure stress	Consequence 1	Consequence 2	Consequence 3
Moist	ure stress Consequence description	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in t manufacture of stock feed	Consequence 3
Moiste	Consequence description Severity of the consequence	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed	Consequence 3
Moiste Adding pridu	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted?	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women	Consequence 3
duction hput Supply	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious	Consequence 3
Moiste Volter Input Supply	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious MAJOR	Consequence 3
Don - Farm production	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence description Severity of the consequence description	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE Men and women	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious MAJOR Men and women	Consequence 3
est On - Farm production	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE Men and women Reduces quantity of both pasture and meat	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious MAJOR Men and women Post harvest losses	Consequence 3
st-Harvest	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE Men and women Reduces quantity of both pasture and meat	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious MAJOR Men and women Post harvest losses MODERATE MODERATE	Consequence 3 he
Moist Post-Harvest	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence description Severity of the consequence description Severity of the consequence description Severity of the consequence description	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE Men and women Reduces quantity of both pasture and meat MODERATE Men and women MODERATE Men and women	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in timanufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious MAJOR Men and women Post harvest losses MODERATE Men and women	Consequence 3 he
Harvest On - Farm production	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence description	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE Men and women Reduces quantity of both pasture and meat MODERATE Men and women Lower prices of meat due to compromised quality	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed MODERATE Men and women Pasture less nutritious MAJOR Men and women Post harvest losses MODERATE Men and women	Consequence 3
Moister Market Post- Harvest	Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted? Consequence description Severity of the consequence description Severity of the consequence Who is impacted?	Consequence 1 Reduces availability of pasture and water MAJOR Men and women Pasture reduced MODERATE Men and women Reduces quantity of both pasture and meat MODERATE Men and women Lower prices of meat due to compromised quality	Consequence 2 Quality of raw materials used in the manufacture of stock feed of the MODERATE Men and women	Consequence 3

Figure 42: Effects of drought spells and moisture stress on the small livestock commodity group

5.4 Underlying vulnerability factors for E-SAPP beneficiaries

Many of the smallholder farmers lack the capacity to anticipate or respond to climate change risks due to institutional, political, economic, socio cultural, geographical or biophysical factors. Inadequate farmer extension services contribute to farmers' lack of crucial climate adaptation knowledge and practical skills. Poverty exacerbates the challenges, as farmers have limited access to resources.

Community values, attitudes, beliefs and practices on gender roles, asset ownership and value chain involvement contribute to inequalities, social exclusion and discrimination based on gender, age or social status. For instance, even though women dominate general production of small livestock, men are assumed to take control over resources and decision-making. This hinders the active participation of women and youth in small livestock production, as they do not have equity in access to incomes. Land ownership, especially because of customary tenure system remains to the adoption of longer-term climate-smart practices. The geographical location of production areas also expose some farmers to natural hazards e.g. low-lying areas are prone to flooding.

5.5 Promising adaptation options

1. Legumes (beans, groundnuts, cowpeas, soybeans)

Many of the ongoing adaptive strategies used by farmers focus on productivity. For instance, promoting adoption of improved (high yielding, disease and drought tolerant varieties), quality seed and crop varieties, conservation agriculture (minimum tillage, crop rotation and intercropping, mulching) and soil management practices like liming, and afforestation. Other practices include crop diversification and value addition to increase incomes (Figure 43).

Proposed adaptation option are broader, focusing on all the value chain stages. These include introduction of affordable mechanization services, climate information services, agro-sector advisories, weather forecasting and index based weather insurance (Figure 43). In addition, stakeholders recognize the importance for capacity building through organizing trainings and fora for increasing farmers' knowledge and skills on climate-smart agriculture practices. There is also a need to strengthen ongoing adaptation options such as value addition, conservation agriculture practices and the use of drought tolerant varieties.

NEW/POTENTIAL ADAPTATION OPTIONS



Promotion of affordable mechanisation-especially for Liming land preparation Afforestation Climate information services **!!!** Early planting Value addition for soybean Improved (high vielding, nutritious, disease and Agro advisories Drought tolerance) seed 0 Value addition e.g. feed High quality certified seed Weather index insurance Early planting Crop diversification Crop diversification Minimum tillage Increase farmers knowledge on climate smart practices Crop rotation Promotion of drought tolerant varieties Disease tolerant varieties Promote conservation agriculture e.g. minimum tillage

ON-GOING ADAPTATION OPTIONS

Figure 43: Ongoing and potential adaptation to drought spells and moisture stress in the legume commodity group

2. Rice

Rice farmers employ various adaptation options for instance the use of water efficient technologies including efficient irrigation systems, crop diversification, conservation agriculture, intensification through agroforestry and horticulture, tolerant varieties, contour ridging and index based weather insurance (Figure 44). Many of these efforts focus towards increasing productivity and adaptation to climate vulnerability. To enhance rice production and adaptation, scaling of ongoing adaptation options such as water use efficient technologies, and water harvesting. Integrated farming and climate information services are needed. Farmer training on climate-smart skills and practices remains a gap. Additionally, there is need to increase adoption of new technologies such as the system of rice intensification, potholing and alternate wetting and drying. Other proposed promising adaptation options include the use of green energy technologies (Figure 44).

NEW/POTENTIAL ADAPTATION OPTIONS



ON-GOING ADAPTATION OPTIONS

	Conservation agriculture	00000	Climate information service
	Crop rotation	A OA	System rice intensification
	Intensification through agro forestry and horticulture	11	Alternate wetting and drying
Contraction of the second seco	Breeding of Crop resistant varieties	(P)	Green energy
Ø	Contour ridging		Water harvesting
• @ /\	Supply certified seeds	*	Integrated farming
3	Water use efficient technologies	1	Potholing
	Weather indexing insurance		Water use efficient crops
*	Crop diversification		Weather indexing insurance
	Irrigation through canals, dams, boreholes		

Figure 44: Ongoing and potential adaptation to drought spells and floods in the Zambian rice value chain

3. Small livestock (poultry, goats, sheep and pigs)

Current adaptation option in livestock production include those targeted towards increasing production, adaptation and mitigation of greenhouse gases. These include bio digesters, drilling small water boreholes for water provision, climate tolerant livestock breeds, tolerant pasture varieties, water smart practices e.g. efficient irrigation technologies (Figure 45). Capacity building for livestock farmers is also required in this commodity group. Disease management is ongoing through construction of dip tanks and proper housing to ensure proper sanitation and ventilation. To facilitate change in behaviour and attitudes on gender roles in livestock production, stakeholders are mainstreaming gender into the project designs and implementation.

Improving access to livestock insurance services is likely to enhance resilience to climate shocks. Similarly, climate information services e.g. early warning, disease surveillance systems is needed. Farmers should practice livestock diversification or mixed farming with crops and the use of climate tolerant breeds, and pasture. Other proposed options include feed and water conservation, afforestation and use of

ON-GOING ADAPTATION OPTIONS

renewable and sustainable energy options (Figure 45). Given the increasing call for engagement of young men and women in small livestock, stakeholders encourage investment in youth led solutions.

Small livestock

NEW/POTENTIAL ADAPTATION OPTIONS



Figure 45: Ongoing and potential adaptation to drought spells and moisture stress in the small livestock commodity group

5.6 Policies and strategies to support adaptation to climate change

A. National policy on climate change (NPCC)

According to GoZ (2016b), the national policy on climate change envisions a prosperous and climate resilient economy by 2030. The guiding principles include sustainable climate change response under which all climate change actions will need to be environmentally sustainable and contribute positively to national economic growth and social development objectives. Also, there will be a need for compliance with international obligations in accordance with Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEAs) on climate change. Resilience building has been identified as an integral part of the development process, and the collectiveness and inclusiveness in climate change response measures undertaken in the country. The policy also looks at the consultative approach and multi-stakeholder involvement including ecosystem integrity. The policy also looks at complementarity of adaptation, Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) and mitigation. The NPCC seeks to increase financing of climate-resilient programs by 25 per cent.

B. The Seventh National Development Plan, 2017-2021 (7NDP)

7NDP is a planning document that outlines Zambia government's desired developmental outcomes as well as the accompanying strategies and programmes (GoZ, 2017). It addresses adaptation and mitigation strategies to minimize effects of climate change on the agriculture sector. It promotes adoption of agricultural and climate smart and organic techniques, for example, conservation farming, crop rotation, minimal use of chemical fertilizer and creating public awareness on effects of climate change. The plan has put in place strategies and programmes to aid communities to adapt to its effects through climate proofing their livelihoods, production and assets. Strategies include rainwater harvesting and catchment protection, promotion of local and transboundary aquifer management and promotion of inter-basin/catchment water transfer schemes.

C. Zambia strengthening climate resilience project (PPCR Phase II)

PPCR Phase II is a project designed to support the pillar of Zambia's National Climate Change Program by ensuring that the country makes climate change a core part of its economic development. (GOZ, 2019). It aims at strengthening Zambia's institutional framework for climate resilience while improving the adaptive capacity of vulnerable communities in targeted areas. The PPCR comprises a National Project Implementation Unit (NPIU) whose mandate is to coordinate project activities. The PPCR is being piloted in 28 districts in Western, Southern, Central, and Lusaka Provinces.

D. Zambia National Strategy to Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (Redd+)

This is a government of Zambia document submitted to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (Patrick, Misael, & Jochen, 2015). The objectives of this strategy include:

- Manage and protect threatened and unsustainably managed national and local forests by 2030
- Manage and monitor selected high value forests in open areas by 2030
- Timber concession areas have management plans that are enforced and monitored with the full participation of local communities by 2030.
- Good agricultural practices that mitigate carbon emissions adopted by 2030
- Production of wood fuel (charcoal & firewood) regulated by 2030
- Appropriate and affordable alternative energy sources adopted by 2020
- Protected areas legislated as "no-go areas" for mining and infrastructure development by 2020

Conclusions for Chapter 5

- Off farm services such as index-based insurance, early warning systems, disease surveillance, credit and financing are still very limited for the three value-chain commodity groups.
- Category A and B beneficiaries are more vulnerable to climate change due to limited insurance and financial services.
- Supporting farmers in category A to access farmer associations and cooperatives to catalyse the provision of inputs, climate smart technologies and skills, and marketing services can accelerate their graduation to agribusiness and out of poverty. Farmer organization can facilitate the provision of bundled services for this category of E-SAPP beneficiaries.
- For beneficiaries in category B, limited adaptation options at the post-harvest and marketing, in comparison to production is hindering gains from the value chain. Studies have highlighted that about 60 per cent of value chain benefits occur post-harvest. It is therefore crucial that post-harvest climate adaptation is a priority in order to unlock more benefits for value chain actors.
- Stakeholders highlight that lack of political will is the greatest challenge to promoting effective implementation of adaptation across all value chains. Policies are particularly, a great challenge to facilitating smallholder market linkages and participation for the E-SAPP beneficiaries under category C.
- Zambia has developed various policies and strategy, which can provide an enabling policy environment and synergies to support climate adaptation for the E-SAPP programme beneficiaries.



REFERENCES

- Adati, T., Nakamura, S., Tamò, M., Kawazu, K., 2004. Effect of temperature on development and survival of the legume pod borer, Maruca vitrata (Fabricius) (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) reared on a semi-synthetic diet. Appl. Entomol. Zool. 39, 139–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1303/aez.2004.139</u>
- Adger, W.N., 2006. Vulnerability. Glob. Environ. Chang. 16, 268–281. doi:10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2006.02.006.
- AFDB. (2019). African Economic Outlook 2019. In African Economic Outlook (AEO) 2019. Retrieved from https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Publications/2019AEO/AEO_2019-EN.pdf
- Alfani, F., Arslan, A., McCarthy, N., Cavatassi, R., & Sitko, N. (2019). Climate-change vulnerability in rural Zambia: the impact of an El Niño-induced shock on income and productivity (No. 19–02). Rome, Italy.
- Alqudah, A.M., Samarah, N.H., Mullen, R.E., 2011. Drought Stress Effect on Crop Pollination, Seed Set, Yield and Quality. Altern. Farming Syst. Biotechnol. Drought Stress Ecol. Fertil. 193–213. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-007-0186-1_6
- Amici, M., Giacomelli, S., Manaresi, F., Tonello, M., 2016. Red tape reduction and firm entry: New evidence from an Italian reform [WWW Document]. Econ. Lett. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2016.06.031
- Arslan, A., McCarthy, N., Lipper, L., Asfaw, S., Cattaneo, A., Kokwe, M., 2015. Climate Smart Agriculture? Assessing the Adaptation Implications in Zambia. J. Agric. Econ. 66, 753–780. doi:10.1111/1477-9552.12107
- Barnabás, B., Jäger, K., Fehér, A., 2008. The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. Plant, Cell Environ. 31, 11–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2007.01727.x
- Biber-Freudenberger, L., Ziemacki, J., Tonnang, H.E.Z., Borgemeister, C., 2016. Future risks of pest species under changing climatic conditions. PLoS One 11, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0153237
- Bourgoin, Clément, Louis Parker, Armando Martinez Valle, and Peter Laderach. 2016. "A Spatially Explicit Assessment of Climate Change Vulnerability in the Agricultural Sector of the Union of the Comoros." Working Paper No. 186.
- Braimoh, A., Mwanakasale, A., Chapoto, A., Rubaiza, R., Chisanga, B., Mubanga, N., Obuya, G. (2018). Increasing Agricultural Resilience through Better Risk Management in Zambia. In Increasing Agricultural Resilience through Better Risk Management in Zambia. https://doi.org/10.1596/29779
- Bukasa, J. (2019). The Zambian Poultry Industry. Retrieved August 14, 2019, from Ministry of Fisheries and Livestock website: https://www.mfl.gov.zm/?p=5405
- CABI, 2015. Plantwise Knowledge Bank [WWW Document]. Plantwise. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. econlet.2016.06.031
- CABI, 2016. Helicoverpa armigera (cotton bollworm) [WWW Document]. Http://Www.Cabi.Org/lsc/ Datasheet/26757. URL https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/26757 (accessed 3.30.20).
- Caesar, C., David, M., Sanni, M., & Mwiinga, C. (2019). Affordability of Protein-Rich Foods: Evidence from Zambia.
- Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). (2019). Africa: Zambia The World Factbook. Retrieved August 14, 2019, from https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/print za.html
- Central Statistical Office. (2016). Crop Forecast Survey Data of Zambia. Retrieved August 23, 2019, from http://zambia.opendataforafrica.org/ZMCRFCSD2016/crop-forecast-survey-data-of-zambia-2015
- Central Statistical Office. (2017). Preliminary Livestock and Aquaculture Census Results 2017. Lusaka, Zambia: Central Bureau of Statistics.
- Central Statistical Office. (2018, May). The Monthly. (181), 1-2.
- Central Statistical Office. (2019). The Monthly Bulletin (Vol. 196). Lusaka, Zambia, Zambia.
- Central Statistical Office. (2019). The 2017/18 Livestock and Aquaculture Census Report. Lusaka, Zambia, Zambia.

- Centre for Agriculture and Bioscience International, 2015. Pest and Disease, a manual on the most important pests and diseases of the major food crops by smallholder farmers in Africa, Africa Soil Health Consortium: Crop Pests and Diseases.
- Chapoto, A., Chisanga, B., & Mulako, K. (2018). Zambia agriculture status report 2018. Lusaka, Zambia.
- Chikowo, R. (2019). Description of cropping systems, climate, and soils in Zambia. Retrieved August 14, 2019, from Global Yield Gap website: http://www.yieldgap.org/zambia
- CIAT, Schwartz, H.F., Pastor-Corrales, M. a., 1989. Bean Production Problems in the Tropics.
- CIAT; WorldBank. (2017). Climate-smart agriculture (CSA) considerations. Wachington, DC.
- Cline, W. (2007). GLOBAL WARMING and AGRICULTURE: Impact Estimates by Country. In Boards (1st Ed.). Washington, DC: Center for Global Development: Peterson Institute for International Economics.
- Dubey, S.C., 2003. Influence of weather factors on the development of blast (Magnaporthe grisea) of rice in Jharkhand. Plant Dis. Res. Ludhiana 18, 101–105.
- Dubey, S.C., 2005. Role of weather on development of cercospora leaf spot (Cercospora arachidicola) on groundnut (Arachis hypogaea) [WWW Document]. Indian J. Agric. Sci. URL https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294417536_Role_of_weather_on_development_of_cercospora_leaf_spot_Cercospora_arachidicola_on_groundnut_Arachis_hypogaea (accessed 3.30.20).
- Eccel, E. (2012). Estimating air humidity from temperature and precipitation measures for modelling applications. Meteorological Applications, 19(1), 118–128. https://doi.org/10.1002/met.258
- Environmental Protection Agency, U.S., 2009. Technical Guidance on Implementing the Stormwater Runoff Requirements for Federal Projects under Section 438 of the Energy Independence and Security Act Section 438 Technical Guidance Technical Guidance on Implementing the Stormwater Runoff Requirements for Federal Projects under Section 438 of the Energy Independence and Security Act.
- EPPO/CABI, 1986. Xanthomonas campestris pv. phaseoli 1425.
- FAO, (2019). Crop production and climate change.
- FAO, (2017). The future of food and agriculture: Trends and challenges. In Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/3/a-i6583e.pdf
- FAO. 2017. "Ecocrop Database." 2017. http://ecocrop.fao.org/ecocrop/srv/en/home.
- FAO/IIASA, 2002. Global Agro-ecological Assessment for Agriculture in the 21st Century (GAEZ v 2.0). Rome, Italy.
- FAOSTAT. (2019a). Crops. Retrieved August 22, 2019, from FAO Datasets website: http://www.fao.org/ faostat/en/#data/QC
- FAOSTAT. (2019b). Food Supply Crops Primary Equivalent. Retrieved August 26, 2019, from FAO Datasets website: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/CC
- FAOSTAT. (2019c). Live Animals Statistics. Retrieved August 2, 2019, from 2019 website: http://www.fao. org/faostat/en/#data/QA
- FastMoving. (2018). Key insights into the African pork market Economic News. Retrieved from http:// www.fastmoving.co.za/news/economic-15/key-insights-into-the-african-pork-market-12344
- Ferrin, D.M., 2015. Southern Blight [WWW Document]. URL https://www.koppert.com/challenges/diseasecontrol/southern-blight/ (accessed 3.30.20).
- Fischer, G., Nachtergaele, F., Prieler, S., Velthuizen, H.T. van, Verelst, L., Wiberg, D., 2008. Global Agroecological Zones : Model documentation. Food Agric. Organ. United Nations 179.
- FAO, 1980. Agro-Ecological Zones Project.
- FAO, 2005. Zambia AQUASTAT data 1-12.
- Food Security Information Network. (2019). Global Report on Food Crises: Joint Analysis for Better Decisions. In Global Report on Food Crises. Retrieved from http://www.fsinplatform.org/sites/default/files/resources/files/GRFC_2019-Full_Report.pdf

- Funder, M., Mweemba, C., Nyambe, I., 2018. The Politics of Climate Change Adaptation in Development: Authority, Resource Control and State Intervention in Rural Zambia. J. Dev. Stud. 54, 30–46. https://doi. org/10.1080/00220388.2016.1277021
- Gannon, C., Kandy, D., Turner, J., Kumar, I., Pilli-Sihvola, K., Chanda, F.S., 2014. Near-term climate change in Zambia. Red Cross/Red Crescent Clim. Centre, Hague 31.
- Ghini, R., Bettiol, W., Hamada, E., 2011. Diseases in tropical and plantation crops as affected by climate changes: Current knowledge and perspectives. Plant Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2010.02403.x
- Ghini, R., Bevitori, R., 2014. Rice Blast Disease in Climate Change Times. Rice Res. Open Access 03. https://doi.org/10.4172/2375-4338.1000e111
- Govender, N., Trollope, W.S.W., Van Wilgen, B.W., 2006. The effect of fire season, fire frequency, rainfall and management on fire intensity in savanna vegetation in South Africa. J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 748–758. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01184.x
- Government of Zambia. (2016). SECOND NATIONAL RICE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2016-2020. Retrieved from https://riceforafrica.net/images/stories/PDF/snrds_zambia.pdf
- GoZ. (2016a). Enhanced Smallholder Livestock Investment Programme (E-SLIP). Retrieved from https:// operations.ifad.org/documents/654016/a5191ce1-4266-41be-b28c-9f3289488298
- GoZ. (2017). The Seventh National Development Plan (7NDP). Lusaka, Zambia, Zambia: Ministry of National Development Plan (MNDP).
- GoZ. (2018a). Child Poverty in Zambia: A multiple overlapping deprivation analysis. In Ministry of National Development and Planning. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- GoZ. (2018b). Enhanced Smallholder Livestock Investment Programme. Retrieved from https://operations. ifad.org/documents/654016/7ce4f9a6-cbd5-4f56-8a60-da116f0189f2
- GoZ. (2018c). Improving Livelihoods of Smallholder Farmers through Increased Bean Productivity, Production and Income in Zambia. Lusaka, Zambia, Zambia: FAO.
- GOZ. (2019). Zambia Strengthening Climate Resilience Project (PPCR Phase II). Retrieved October 22, 2019, from https://www.mndp.gov.zm/?page_id=5598
- GoZ. NATIONAL POLICY ON CLIMATE CHANGE. , (2016).
- Green Climate Fund. (2018). Strengthening climate resilience of agricultural livelihoods in Agro-Ecological Regions I and II in Zambia: Environmental and Social Management Framework. Lusaka, Zambia.
- Groenen, D. (2018). The Effects of Climate Change on the Pests and Diseases of Coffee Crops in Mesoamerica. Journal of Climatology & Weather Forecasting, 06(03). https://doi.org/10.4172/2332-2594.1000239
- Hamazakaza, P., Katungi, E., Reyes, B., Maredia, M., Muimui, K., & Ojara, M. (2014). Assessing access and adoption of common bean improved varieties in Zambia. In Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research. Lusaka, Zambia: CGIAR.
- He, Y., Munkvold, G.P., 2012. Comparison of extraction procedures for detection of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli in common bean seed. Plant Pathol. 61, 837–843. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2011.02586.x
- Hamududu, B. H., & Ngoma, H. (2020). Impacts of climate change on water resources availability in Zambia: implications for irrigation development. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 22(4), 2817–2838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-019-00320-9</u>
- Hijmans, R.J., Cameron, S.E., Parra, J.L., Jones, P.G., Jarvis, A., 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. Int. J. Climatol. 25, 1965–1978. doi:10.1002/joc.1276
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Jacob, D., Taylor, M., Bindi, M., Brown, S., Camilloni, I., Zhou, G. (2018). Impacts of 1.5oC Global Warming on Natural and Human Systems. In Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change,. Retrieved from IPCC website: https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15

- IITA. (2015). Five IITA-developed cowpea varieties released in Swaziland. Retrieved August 23, 2019, from IITA News website: https://www.iita.org/news-item/five-iita-developed-cowpea-varieties-released-swaziland/
- ILOSTAT. (2019). Labour force participation rate ILO modelled estimates, July 2018. Retrieved August 15, 2019, from https://www.ilo.org/
- IMF. (2019). World Economic Outlook (April 2019) GDP, current prices. Retrieved August 22, 2019, from GDP, current prices website: https://www.imf.org/
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 976pp.
- IPCC, 2012. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation, C.B, Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P.M. Midgley (Eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 582 pp
- IPCC. 2014. "Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (Eds.)]." Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jain, S., 2007. An empirical economic assessment of impacts of climate change on agriculture in Zambia, Policy Research Working Papers. The World Bank. Doi: 10.1596/1813-9450-4291
- Javed, H., Iqbal, J., Mateen, Z., 2014. Response of different cultivars of groundnut, aarachis hypogaea L. (Fabaceae: Fabales) to aphids, aphis craccivora K. (Aphididae: Homoptera) in interaction with local weather factors
- Kambrekar, D., Guledgudda, S., Katti, A. M., 2016. Impact of climate change on insect pests and their natural enemies. J. FARM Sci. 28.
- Katsantonis, D., Kadoglidou, K., Dramalis, C., Puigdollers, P., 2017. Rice blast forecasting models and their practical value: A review. Phytopathol. Mediterr. https://doi.org/10.14601/Phytopathol_ Mediterr-18706
- Kaur, S., Thind, S., Arora, A., 2016. Epidemiology of strawberry anthracnose (Colletotrichum gloeosporioides) in Punjab: an agrometeorological approach. Plant Dis. Res. 31, 154–157.
- Knutti, R., Sedláček, J., 2012. Robustness and uncertainties in the new CMIP5 climate model projections. Nat. Clim. Chang. 3, 369–373. Doi: 10.1038/nclimate1716
- Kriticos, D.J., Ota, N., Hutchison, W.D., Beddow, J., Walsh, T., Tay, W.T., Borchert, D.M., Paula-Moreas, S. V., Czepak, C., Zalucki, M.P., 2015. The potential distribution of invading Helicoverpa armigera in North America: Is it just a matter of time? PLoS One 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119618
- Leclerc, M., Dussault, C., St-Laurent, M.H., 2014. Behavioural strategies towards human disturbances explain individual performance in woodland caribou. Oecologia 176, 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3012-9
- Lewis, T., 1997. Thrips as crop pests. CAB International.
- LPHSI. (1990). Livestock and Poultry Heat Stress Indices. Agricultural Engineering Technology Guide.
- Mahmood, Y., 2017. Effect of epidemiological factors on the incidence of paddy blast (Pyricularia oryzae) disease.
- Mahuku, G.S., Jara, C., Henriquez, M.A., Castellanos, G., Cuasquer, J., 2006. Genotypic characterization of the common bean bacterial blight pathogens, Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli and Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli var. fuscans by rep-PCR and PCR-RFLP of the ribosomal genes. J. Phytopathol. 154, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2005.01057.x
- Maina, J., Ouma, P.O., Macharia, P.M., Alegana, V.A., Mitto, B., Fall, I.S., Noor, A.M., Snow, R.W., Okiro, E.A., 2019. A spatial database of health facilities managed by the public health sector in sub Saharan Africa. Sci. Data 6, 134. Doi: 10.1038/s41597-019-0142-2

- Manhique, A.J., Reason, C.J.C., Silinto, B., Zucula, J., Raiva, I., Congolo, F., Mavume, A.F., 2015. Extreme rainfall and floods in southern Africa in January 2013 and associated circulation patterns. Nat. Hazards 77, 679–691. Doi: 10.1007/s11069-015-1616-y
- Mayeux, A., 1984. The groundnut aphid. Biology and control. Oléagineux 39, 425–434.
- McKee, D. (2019, March 18). Zambia's push for more protein. World Grain. Retrieved from https://www. world-grain.com/articles/11798-zambias-push-for-more-protein
- McMahon, T.A., Peel, M.C., Lowe, L., Srikanthan, R., McVicar, T.R., 2013. Estimating actual, potential, reference crop and pan evaporation using standard meteorological data: A pragmatic synthesis. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 17, 1331–1363. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-17-1331-2013
- Mersha, Z., Kering, M., Ren, S., 2019. Southern Blight of Hemp caused by Athelia rolfsii detected in Virginia. Plant Dis. https://doi.org/10.1094/pdis-10-19-2178-pdn
- Moonga, A., & Moonga, M. (2018). Challenges encountered in conservation farming by subsistence farmers of Chikupi resettlement in Kafue District of Zambia. 2, 7–19.
- Mortsch, L., 2005. Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture, Forestry, and Wetlands, in: Climate Change and Managed Ecosystems. CRC Press, pp. 45–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9780849330971.ch3</u>
- Moss R, Babiker M, Brinkman S, Calvo E, Carter T, Edmonds J, Elgizouli I, Emori S, Erda L, Hibbard KA et al. 2008. Towards new scenarios for analysis of emissions, climate change, impacts, and response strategies. IPCC Expert Meeting Report on New Scenarios. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Noordwijkerhout
- Moss RH, Edmonds JA, Hibbard KA, Manning MR, Rose SK, van Vuuren DP, Carter TR, Emori S, Kainuma M, Kram T et al. 2010. The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. Nature 463:747–756
- Muchinda, M. 2001. Drought Incidence in Zambia over the Thirty-year Period 1979/711999/2000. Presented at the Second International Conference on Tropical Climatology, Meteorology and Hydrology, 13-14 December. Brussels, Belgium.
- Mukwalikuli, M. 2018. Determinants of Technical Efficency of Smallholder Farming in Lukulu, Zambia. World Journal of Research and Review. 6(4): 60-65.
- Mulenga, B.P., Wineman, A., 2014. Climate Trends and Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change in Zambia. Environ. Manage. 1–28.
- Mulenga, B.P., Wineman, A., Sitko, N.J., 2017. Climate Trends and Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change in Zambia. Environ. Manage. 59, 291–306. Doi: 10.1007/s00267-016-0780-5
- Mweetwa, A., Chilombo, G., & Gondwe, B. (2016). Nodulation, Nutrient Uptake and Yield of Common Bean Inoculated with Rhizobia and Trichoderma in an Acid Soil. Journal of Agricultural Science, 8, 61. https://doi.org/10.5539/jas.v8n12p61
- Naidu, R.A., Kimmin, F.M., Deom, C.M., Subrahmanya, P., Chiyembekeza, A.J., Merwe, P.J.A. van der, 1999. Groundnut Rossette: A Virus Disease Affecting Groundnut Production in Sub-Saharan Africa. Am. Phytopathol. Soc. 83.

National Research Council. 1971. "A Guide to Environmental Research on Animals."

- Navarro-Racines, C., Tarapues, J., Thornton, P., Jarvis, A., Ramirez-Villegas, J., 2020. High-resolution and bias-corrected CMIP5 projections for climate change impact assessments. Sci. Data 7, 7. Doi: 10.1038/ s41597-019-0343-8
- Nkhoma, C., & Nangambaaharan, J. (2019). A Case Study on Farmer Managed Seed Systems (FMSS) in Zambia: Implementing Organization : ZAAB. In Farmer seed systems (FSS) in Sub-Saharan Africa. Lusaka, Zambia: ZAAB.
- Nkonya, E., Johnson, T., Kwon, H.Y., Kato, E., 2016. Economics of Land Degradation in Sub-Saharan Africa, in: Economics of Land Degradation and Improvement – A Global Assessment for Sustainable Development. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 215–259. Doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-19168-3_9

- Nwilene, F.E..., Nwanze, K.F..., Okhidievbie, O., 2006. African Rice Gall Midge: Biology, Ecology and Control. Field Guide and Technical Manual. Africa Rice Cent. 1–24.
- O'Brien, K., Eriksen, S., Nygaard, L.P., Schjolden, A., 2007. Why different interpretations of vulnerability matter in climate change discourses. Clim. Policy 7, 73–88. doi:10.1080/14693062.2007.9685639
- OECD. (2019). OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2017-2026 : MEATS OECD-FAO Agricultural O utlook 2017-2026. Retrieved August 19, 2019, from OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook website: https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?queryid=76854
- Omotosho, J.B., Balogun, A.A., Ogunjobi, K., 2000. Predicting monthly and seasonal rainfall, onset and cessation of the rainy season in West Africa using only surface data. Int. J. Climatol. 20, 865–880. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0088(20000630)20:8<865::AID-JOC505>3.0.CO;2-R
- Ostaszewski, M. (2018). Trends and forecasts of red meat consumption in the world and in Poland in the years 2015-2025. International Scientific Journal, 104, 484–498. Retrieved from www. worldscientificnews.com
- Pareek, A., Meena, B.L., Sitaram, S., Tetarwal, M.L., Kalyan, R.K., 2017. Impact of Climate Change on Insect Pests and Their Management Strategies [WWW Document]. URLhttps://www.researchgate. net/publication/328476222_Impact_of_Climate_Change_on_Insect_Pests_and_Their_Management_ Strategies (accessed 4.2.20).
- Parker, L., Bourgoin, C., Martinez-Valle, A., Läderach, P., 2019. Vulnerability of the agricultural sector to climate change: The development of a pan-tropical Climate Risk Vulnerability Assessment to inform sub-national decision-making. PLoS One 14, e0213641. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0213641
- Pathak, H., Aggarwal, P.K., Singh, S.D., 2012. Climate change impact, adaptation and mitigation in agriculture: methodology for assessment and applications.
- Pathak, M.D., Khan, Z.R., 1994. Insect Pests OF RICE.
- Patrick, M., Misael, K., & Jochen, S. (2015). Zambia National Strategy To Reduce Emissions From Deforestation and Forest Degradation (Redd+). In UN-REDD Programme. Lusaka, Zambia.
- Perez, L., Rios, D., Giraldo, D., Twyman, J., Blundo-Canto, G., Prager, S., Ramirez-Villegas, J., 2019. Determinants of vulnerability of bean growing households to climate variability in Colombia. Clim. Dev. doi:10.1080/17565529.2019.1685931
- Phillips, J.F. V., 2012. Fire: It's Influence on Biotic Communities and Physical Factors in South and East Africa. Fire Ecol. 8, 2–16. Doi: 10.1007/BF03400622
- Reliefweb, 2019. ZAMBIA Drought-Southern Province.
- Rippke, U., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Jarvis, A., Vermeulen, S.J., Parker, L., Mer, F., Diekkrüger, B., Challinor, A.J., Howden, M., 2016. Timescales of transformational climate change adaptation in sub-Saharan African agriculture. Nat. Clim. Chang. 6, 605–609. Doi: 10.1038/nclimate2947
- Robeson, S.M., 2002. Increasing growing-season length in Illinois during the 20th century. Clim. Change 52, 219–238. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013088011223
- SADC. (2019). Vulnerability Assessment Committee Results. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/sites/ reliefweb.int/files/resources/SADC_Zambia_snapshot_10July2018_final.pdf
- Saelao, P., Wang, Y., Chanthavixay, G., Gallardo, R. A., Wolc, A., Dekkers, J. C. M., Zhou, H. (2019). Genetics and genomic regions affecting response to Newcastle disease virus infection under heat stress in layer chickens. Genes, 10(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10010061
- Samboko, P. C., Zulu-Mbata, O., & Chapoto, A. (2018). Analysis of the animal feed to poultry value chain in Zambia. Development Southern Africa, 35(3), 351–368. https://doi.org/10.1080/037683 5X.2018.1480932
- Shitumbanuma, V., Simfukwe, P., Kalala, D., Kaninga, B., Gondwe, B., Nambala, M., Mutegi, J. (2016). Integrated Soil Fertility Management in Zambia The Zambia Soil Health Consortium Integrated Soil Fertility Management in Zambia Integrated Soil Fertility Management in Zambia I Preface. Retrieved from <u>http://zambia.soilhealthconsortia.org/download/reports/ZAMBIA-ISFM-HAND-BOOK.pdf</u>

- Siamabele, B. 2019. Soya Beans Production in Zambia: Opportunities and Challenges. American Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences, 14: 55-60.
- Soare, E., & Chiurciu, I.-A. (2017). Study on the Pork Market Worldwide. Scientific Papers: Management, Economic Engineering in Agriculture & Rural Development, 17(4), 321–326. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.lib.uconn.edu/
- Spectrum Guide to Zambia. Camerapix International Publishing, Nairobi, 1996. ISBN 1874041148.
- Stern, N., 2007. The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 692 pp.
- Stern, R. and P. J. M. Cooper. 2011. Assessing climate risk and climate change using rainfall data A case study from Zambia. Experimental Agriculture 47(2):241-266.
- Styger, E. (2014). Rice production diagnostic for Chinsali (Chinsali District, Northern Province) and Mfuwe (Mwambe District, Eastern Province), Zambia. Ithaca, NY, USA: SRI International Network and Resources Center (SRI-Rice).
- Taba-Morales, G., Hyman, G., Mejía, J.R., Castro-Llanos, F., Beebe, S., Rubyogo, J.C., Katungi, E., Buruchara, R., 2020. Improving African bean productivity in a changing global environment. Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Chang. Doi: 10.1007/s11027-019-09910-4
- Tadross, M., Suarez, P., Lotsch, A., Hachigonta, S., Mdoka, M., Unganai, L., Lucio, F., Kamdonyo, D., Muchinda, M., 2009. Growing-season rainfall and scenarios of future change in southeast Africa: Implications for cultivating maize. Clim. Res. 40, 147–161. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00821
- Teixeira, E.I., Fischer, G., Van Velthuizen, H., Walter, C., Ewert, F., 2013. Global hot spots of heat stress on agricultural crops due to climate change. Agric. For. Meteorol. 170, 206–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. agrformet.2011.09.002
- The World Bank. (2010). Economic Evaluation of Climate Change Adaptation Projects: Approaches for the Agricultural Sector and Beyond. Washington, DC.
- The World Bank. (2012). Agribusiness indicators: Zambia. In Agriculture and Environmental Services: Agribusiness Indicators: Zambia (Vol. 82508). Retrieved from The World Bank website: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/481731468166490328/pdf/825080WP0ABIZa00Box379865B00PUBLIC0.pdf
- The World Bank. (2018). Zambia Economic Brief: An agro-led structural transformation (No. 11). Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/200841537368334665/pdf/130011-WP-PUBLIC-ADD-SERIES-EBFinalZambiaEconomicBrief.pdf
- The World Bank. (2019a). GDP per capita growth. Retrieved August 22, 2019, from World Bank national accounts data, and OECD National Accounts data files website: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ NY.GDP.PCAP.KD.ZG
- The World Bank. (2019b). The World Bank in Zambia. Retrieved October 18, 2019, from https://www. worldbank.org/en/country/zambia/overview
- The World Bank. (2019c). Word Development Index (WDI) People. Retrieved August 14, 2019, from http://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/themes/people.html
- The World Bank. (2019d). World Bank Open Data. The World Bank Data. Retrieved from https://data. worldbank.org/indicator/NV.AGR.TOTL.ZS
- Thornton PK, Jones PG, Ericksen PJ, Challinor AJ. 2011. Agriculture and food systems in
- Sub-Sharan Africa in a 4°C+ world. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A 369: 117-136
- Thurlow, J., Zhu, T., Diao, X., 2012. Current Climate Variability and Future Climate Change: Estimated Growth and Poverty Impacts for Zambia. Rev. Dev. Econ. 16, 394–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9361.2012.00670.x
- Tracy, M., & Don, H. (2018, June 27). Four Recommendations for Strengthening Seed Systems. Retrieved from https://dai-global-developments.com/articles/four-recommendations-for-strengthening-seed-systems

- Traorea1, F., Dabire-Binsoa1, C.L., Malick Baa1, N., Sanona2, A., Pittendrigha3, B.R., Traore, F., Dabire-Binso, C.L., Malick Ba, N., Sanon, A., Pittendrigh, B.R., 2013. Feeding preferences of the legume pod borer Maruca vitrata (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) larvae and suitability of different flower parts for larval development Feeding preferences of the legume pod borer, Maruca vitrata Fab. (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) larvae and suitability of altreater and suitability of different flower parts for larval development. Int. J. Trop. Insect Sci. 33, 107–113. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742758413000088
- Tusting, L.S., Kang, S.Y., Cameron, E., Bisanzio, D., Battle, K.E., Bhatt, S., Gething, P.W., 2018. A global map of travel time to cities to assess inequalities in accessibility in 2015. Nature 553, 333–336. Doi: 10.1038/nature25181
- Umar, B. B. (2012). Reversing Agro-Based Land Degradation through Conservation Agriculture: Emerging Experiences from Zambia's Smallholder Farming Sector. Sustainable Agriculture Research, 1(2), 72. https://doi.org/10.5539/sar.v1n2p72
- UNDP, 2010. Adaptation to the effects of drought and climate change in Agro-ecological Regions I and II in Zambia.
- UNESCO. (2019). UNESCO: Zambia Education and Literacy. Retrieved October 18, 2019, from http://uis. unesco.org/country/ZM
- USAID. (2014). Innovation Lab for Peanut: Locations Zambia. Retrieved August 26, 2019, from https:// ftfpeanutlab.caes.uga.edu/Locations/Zambia.html
- USAID. (2018). Gender Considerations For Researchers Working In Groundnuts. In Feed the Future. Retrieved from https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PA00T3SR.pdf
- US-EPA Climate Change Division, 2016. Climate Change and Extreme Heat: What You Can Do to Prepare.
- Weston, P.A., Desurmont, G.A., 2008. Pupation by Viburnum Leaf Beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae): Behavioral Description and Impact of Environmental Variables and Entomopathogenic Nematodes Pupation by Viburnum Leaf Beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae): Behavioural Description and Impact. America (NY). 37, 845–849. https://doi.org/10.1603/0046-225X(2008)37
- Worldometers. (2019). Zambia Population (2019). Retrieved August 14, 2019, from https://www. worldometers.info/world-population/zambia-population/

Supplementary information





Figure S 1: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analysed here to climate change by the 2050s for scenario RCP 4.5





Figure S 2: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analysed here to climate change by the 2030s for scenario RCP 8.5





Figure S 3: Sensitivity of the ten value chains analyzed here to climate change by 2050s for scenario RCP 8.5



Figure S 4: Overall vulnerability of Zambian agriculture to climate change by 2050 for RCP 4.5 (top) and RCP 8.5 (bottom)



Figure S 5: Vulnerability of Zambian crop and livestock systems to climate change



Figure S 6: Contribution of individual Zambian agricultural value chains to overall vulnerability to climate change by 2050 for RCP 4.5



Figure S 7: Contribution of individual Zambian agricultural value chains to overall vulnerability to climate change by 2030 for RCP 8.5



Figure S 8: Contribution of individual Zambian agricultural value chains to overall vulnerability to climate change by 2050 for RCP 8.5









Alliance



Contacts

Dr. Caroline Mwongera Farming Systems & Climate Change Scientist Alliance Bioversity International and CIAT <u>c.mwongera@cgiar.org</u>